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Introductory Note
 
On February 1, 2022, Vroom, Inc. (the “Company”) filed a Current Report on Form 8-K (the “Original Form 8-K”) reporting that on that date, the 
Company completed the acquisition of Unitas Holdings Corp. (now known as Vroom Finance Corporation), a Delaware corporation, including its wholly 
owned subsidiaries United Auto Credit Corporation and United PanAm Financial Corp. (the direct parent of United Auto Credit Corporation and now 
known as Vroom Automotive Financial Corporation). Unitas Holdings Corp., United PanAm Financial Corp. and United Auto Credit Corporation, as well 
as their other subsidiaries, are now wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company.
 
This Current Report on Form 8-K/A amends the Original Form 8-K to include the financial statements required by Item 9.01(a) of Form 8-K and the pro 
forma financial information required by Item 9.01(b) of Form 8-K, which were not included in the Original Form 8-K pursuant to Items 9.01(a)(3) and (b)
(2) of Form 8-K. Except as provided herein, the disclosures made in the Original Form 8-K remain unchanged.
 
Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits.
  
(a) Financial Statements of Businesses or Funds Acquired.
  
The historical audited consolidated financial statements of United PanAm Financial Corp. and its subsidiaries as of and for the year ended December 31, 
2020, as well as the accompanying notes thereto and the related Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm issued by RSM US LLP, dated 
March 12, 2021, are filed hereto as Exhibit 99.1 and incorporated herein by reference. 
  
The historical unaudited consolidated financial statements of United PanAm Financial Corp. and its subsidiaries as of and for the nine months ended 
September 30, 2021, as well as the accompanying notes thereto, are filed hereto as Exhibit 99.2 and incorporated herein by reference.
 
Unitas Holdings Corp.'s financial statements are not material on a stand-alone basis. 
  
(b) Pro Forma Financial Information.
  
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations of the Company for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, the unaudited pro 
forma condensed combined statement of operations of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2020, and the unaudited pro forma condensed 
combined balance sheet of the Company as of September 30, 2021, and the notes related thereto, are filed as Exhibit 99.3 hereto and are incorporated 
herein by reference. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information combines the Company’s financial statements with United PanAm 
Financial Corp.’s financial statements.
 
(d) Exhibits.
 

23.1 Consent of RSM US LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

99.1 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of United PanAm Financial Corp. and its subsidiaries as of and for the year ended 
December 31, 2020.

99.2 Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements of United PanAm Financial Corp. and its subsidiaries as of and for the nine months 
ended September 30, 2021.

99.3 Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations of the Company for the nine months ended September 30, 
2021, Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations of the Company for the year ended December 31, 
2020, and Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet of the Company as of September 30, 2021.

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document).
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

Dated: April 8, 2022 VROOM, INC.

 By:  /s/ Robert R. Krakowiak
 Name:    Robert R. Krakowiak
 Title:      Chief Financial Officer
 

 

 



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Auditor
  
  
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statements (No. 333-239093 and No. 333-263121) on Form S-8 of Vroom, Inc. 
of our report dated March 12, 2021, except for Note 14 as to which the date is April 8, 2022, relating to the December 31, 2020 consolidated 
financial statements of United PanAm Financial Corp. and its subsidiaries, appearing in this Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed by Vroom, 
Inc. on April 8, 2022. 
  
/s/ RSM US LLP
  
Los Angeles, California
April 8, 2022
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United PanAm Financial Corp. and Subsidiaries
 
Consolidated Financial Report
December 31, 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report

  
  
To the Board of Directors
United PanAm Financial Corp. and Subsidiaries
Newport Beach, California
  
  
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of United PanAm Financial Corp. and its subsidiaries, which comprise 
the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020, the related consolidated statement of operations, changes in stockholder’s equity, 
and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (collectively, the financial statements).
  
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to 
the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
  
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
  
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
  
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
  
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of United PanAm 
Financial Corp. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2020, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
  
/s/ RSM US LLP
  
Los Angeles, California
March 12, 2021, except for Note 14 as to 
which the date is April 8, 2022
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United PanAm Financial Corp. and Subsidiaries    
    
Consolidated Balance Sheet    
December 31, 2020    
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)    
    
    
    
Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 4,224  
Restricted cash (held entirely through consolidated VIEs)   40,532  

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   44,756  
Finance receivables, net (including finance receivables of consolidated VIEs    

of $407.1 million)   452,483  
Premises and equipment, net   4,962  
Interest receivable   8,650  
Deferred tax assets   15,583  
Cash surrender value of life insurance   1,256  
Tax receivable   492  
Other assets   6,468  

Total assets  $ 534,650  
    

    
Liabilities and Stockholder’s Equity    
Liabilities    

Notes payable of consolidated VIE's  $ 102,872  
Securitization debt of consolidated VIE's   315,209  
Senior loan from related parties   7,000  
Junior subordinated debentures   10,310  
Accrued expenses and other liabilities   24,062  

Total liabilities   459,453  
    

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 11)    
    

Stockholder’s Equity    
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 100 shares authorized,    

issued, and outstanding   -  
Paid-in capital   17,985  
Retained earnings   57,212  

Total stockholder’s equity   75,197  
Total liabilities and stockholder’s equity  $ 534,650  

    
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.    
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United PanAm Financial Corp. and Subsidiaries    
    
Consolidated Statement of Operations    
Year Ended December 31, 2020    
(Dollars in thousands)    
    
    
    
Interest income  $ 160,458  
    
Interest expense:    

Notes payable   4,952  
Securitization debt   14,016  
Senior loan from related parties   1,053  
Junior subordinated debentures   400  

Total interest expense   20,421  
Net interest income   140,037  
    

Provision for finance receivable losses   80,173  
Net interest income after provision for    
       finance receivable losses   59,864  

    
Noninterest income   6,172  
    
Noninterest expense:    

Compensation and benefits   34,238  
Occupancy   3,056  
Other noninterest expense   12,410  

Total noninterest expense   49,704  
Income before income tax expense   16,332  
    

Income tax expense   3,707  
Net income  $ 12,625  
    

    
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.    
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United PanAm Financial Corp. and Subsidiaries       
       
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholder’s Equity       
Year Ended December 31, 2020       
(Dollars in thousands)       
       
 Paid-In  Retained    
 Capital  Earnings  Total  
       
Balance, December 31, 2019 $ 17,691  $ 44,587  $ 62,278  

Net income  -   12,625   12,625  
Stock bonus award  294   -   294  

Balance, December 31, 2020 $ 17,985  $ 57,212  $ 75,197  
       
       
       
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.       
 

6



 
United PanAm Financial Corp. and Subsidiaries    
    
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows    
Year Ended December 31, 2020    
(Dollars in thousands)    
    
    
    
Cash flows from operating activities    

Net income  $ 12,625  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by    
operating activities:    

Provision for finance receivable losses   80,173  
Loss on asset disposal   217  
Amortization of debt issuance costs   2,774  
Deferred income taxes   (3,970 )
Depreciation and amortization   1,367  
Capitalized internal development costs   (607 )
Stock bonus award   294  
Decrease in deferred acquisition costs   760  
Decrease in accrued interest receivable   367  
Increase in other assets and tax receivable   (54 )
Increase in accrued expenses and other liabilities   2,939  

Net cash provided by operating activities   96,885  
    
Cash flows from investing activities    

Acquisition of finance receivables, net of collections received   (38,315 )
Purchase of premises and equipment   (1,244 )

Net cash used in investing activities   (39,559 )
    
Cash flows from financing activities    

Net decrease in notes payable   (31,501 )
Proceeds from securitization debt   239,520  
Principal payments on securitization debt   (263,058 )
Payments for debt issuance costs   (2,392 )

Net cash used in financing activities   (57,431 )
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   (105 )

    
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of year   44,861  
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of year  $ 44,756  
    
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information    

Cash payments made for:    
Interest  $ 17,639  

    
Income taxes paid, net  $ 4,560  

    
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.    
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United PanAm Financial Corp. and Subsidiaries
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
 
Note 1. Nature of Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Nature of organization: United PanAm Financial Corp. and subsidiaries (the Company) was incorporated in California on April 9, 1998. The 
Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Unitas Holdings Corp. (Parent Company). The Company’s primary business involves the purchase 
and collection of automobile installment contracts from new and used car dealers, with an emphasis on the independent, nonfranchise 
dealer. Retail obligations are secured by liens on vehicle titles. The Company can repossess the vehicle if the borrower fails to meet the 
obligation of the contract. The Company is currently authorized to operate in 49 states, with its primary markets in Florida, California and 
Texas.
 
The Company specializes in receivables from borrowers who generally would not be expected to qualify for traditional financing such as that 
provided by commercial banks or automobile manufacturers’ finance companies. The finance receivables are secured primarily by used 
automobiles.
 
A summary of the Company’s significant accounting policies is as follows:
 
Basis of accounting and principles of consolidation: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its 
wholly owned subsidiaries, UPFC Trust I and United Auto Credit Corporation (UACC). Additionally, the Company has several variable interest 
entities (VIEs) for which UACC is the primary beneficiary. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in 
consolidation.
 
One of the Company’s subsidiaries, UPFC Trust I, is an unconsolidated statutory business trust, which was formed for the exclusive purpose 
of issuing and selling trust preferred securities and holding subordinated debentures issued by the Company. In accordance with Accounting 
Standards Codification (ASC) 810, Consolidation, this trust does not meet the criteria for consolidation. The accompanying consolidated 
balance sheets include in other assets the investment in the trust of $310 thousand as of December 31, 2020.
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America and conform to industry practice. 
 
Use of estimates: In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amount of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimates and assumptions 
included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements relate to the allowance for finance receivable losses, valuation of deferred tax 
assets and net realizable value of repossessed assets.
 
Cash and cash equivalents, cash flows and cash concentrations: Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and interest- and 
noninterest-bearing deposits. The Company periodically maintains balances in various operating accounts in excess of federally insured 
deposit limits. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts. Cash flows from the purchases of and payments related to 
finance receivables and borrowings and repayments on short-term notes payable are recorded net.
 
Restricted cash: The Company collects and services all receivables under the revolving and term securitizations and warehouse facilities. 
These collections are restricted for use until properly remitted each month under the terms of the servicing agreement. 
 
Note 1. Nature of Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Finance receivables and income recognition: The Company generally purchases automobile installment contracts for investment at a 
discount. The discount is consideration for the credit risk associated with the contracts. Finance receivables and contracts held for 
investment are reported at cost, net of unearned acquisition discounts and allowance for finance receivable losses, as well as deferred 
acquisition costs. Unearned acquisition discounts are recognized over the contractual life of the finance receivables using the interest 
method. 
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United PanAm Financial Corp. and Subsidiaries
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
 
 
The Company’s policy is generally to charge off finance receivables at the earlier of (1) the end of the month in which the collateral has been 
repossessed and sold, or (2) the end of the month in which the account is delinquent in excess of 120 days, if not pending sale. If the 
collateral has been repossessed and sold, the charge-off represents the difference between the net sales proceeds and the net amount of 
the delinquent contract. If the account is delinquent in excess of 120 days, the charge-off represents the net amount of the delinquent 
contract. Interest income deemed uncollectible is reversed at the time the finance receivable is charged off. 
 
An account is considered delinquent if a scheduled payment has not been received by the date such payment was contractually due. 
Finance receivables over 90 days delinquent are considered nonaccrual finance receivables. Income is subsequently recognized only to the 
extent cash payments are received until, in management’s judgment, the borrower is able to make periodic interest and principal payments in 
accordance with the finance receivable terms.
 
The Company considers a finance receivable impaired when it is probable that it will be unable to collect all amounts due (principal and 
interest) according to the original terms of the contract. As the finance receivable portfolio is homogenous, the Company evaluates finance 
receivables for impairment collectively.
 
Late charges and other fees are calculated at predetermined amounts or percentages of overdue finance receivable balances and are 
recorded on a cash basis.
 
Deferred acquisition costs: Certain direct receivable acquisition costs are deferred and amortized as an adjustment to the related 
receivable’s yield. The Company is amortizing these amounts over the contractual life of the receivable using a method that approximates the 
effective interest rate method.
 
Allowance for finance receivable losses: The allowance for finance receivable losses is calculated based on incurred loss methodology for 
the amount of probable incurred finance receivable losses inherent in finance receivables as of the reporting date. The Company’s finance 
receivable loss allowance is estimated by management based upon a variety of factors, including an assessment of the credit risk inherent in 
the portfolio and prior loss experience.
 
The allowance for finance receivable losses is established through a provision for finance receivable losses recorded as necessary to provide 
for probable incurred finance receivable losses on existing finance receivables. The Company’s methodology to estimate incurred losses 
uses static pool which stratifies finance receivables and losses based upon the period of origination. The credit risk in each individual static 
pool is evaluated independently in order to estimate the future losses within each pool. The Company evaluates the adequacy of unearned 
discounts to absorb estimated finance receivable losses on a regular basis. To the extent the unearned discount is not considered adequate 
to absorb estimated losses; an increase in the allowance for finance receivable losses is established by a charge to the provision for finance 
receivable losses. The Company evaluates the adequacy of the allowance by examining current delinquencies, the characteristics of the 
portfolio, prospective liquidation values of the underlying collateral, and general economic and market conditions. As circumstances change, 
the Company’s level of provisioning and/or allowance may change as well.
 
Note 1. Nature of Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Despite these analyses, the Company recognizes that establishing an allowance is an estimate, which is inherently uncertain and depends 
on the outcome of future events. The Company’s operating results and financial condition are sensitive to changes in its estimate for finance 
receivable losses and the estimate’s underlying assumptions. The Company’s operating results and financial condition are immediately 
impacted as changes in estimates for calculating the allowance for finance receivable losses are recorded in its consolidated statement of 
operations as an addition or reduction in provision expense. Any such adjustment is recorded in the current period as the assessment is 
made.
 
Troubled debt restructured finance receivables: Finance receivables associated with customers in bankruptcy may be considered 
troubled debt restructured finance receivables. The Company follows its 
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United PanAm Financial Corp. and Subsidiaries
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
 
standard charge-off and nonaccrual policies for the accounts of customers in a confirmed bankruptcy under Chapters 7 and 13 of the 
bankruptcy code. For customers in a Chapter 13 bankruptcy plan, the bankruptcy court reduces the interest rate the Company can charge, 
as it does for most creditors. Once the customer is in a confirmed Chapter 13 bankruptcy plan, the Company receives payments with respect 
to the remaining amount of the finance receivable at the reduced interest rate from the bankruptcy trustee. The Company does not believe 
that accounts in a confirmed Chapter 13 plan have a higher level of risk than non-bankrupt accounts. If a customer fails to comply with the 
terms of the bankruptcy order, the Company will petition the trustee to have the customer dismissed from bankruptcy. Upon dismissal, the 
Company restores the account to the original terms and pursues collection through its normal collection activities. 
 
Securitizations and variable interest entities: The Company enters into agreements to securitize, sell and service certain automobile 
contracts. Securitization transactions typically involve the use of VIEs and are accounted for as secured financings. Economic interests in the 
securitized and sold assets are generally retained in the form of senior or subordinated interests, cash reserve accounts, residual interests 
and servicing rights. Prior to securitization, the Company will typically hold finance receivables in separate VIEs.
 
Securitizations are transactions in which the Company sells a specified pool of automobile contracts to a VIE, which in turn issues asset-
backed securities to fund the purchase of the pool of contracts from the Company. The securitization involves identification of specific 
automobile contracts, sale of those contracts to a VIE, and issuance of asset-backed securities to fund the transactions. 
 
In order to conclude whether or not a VIE is required to be consolidated, careful consideration and judgment must be given to the continuing 
involvement with the VIE. In circumstances where the Company has both the power to direct the activities of the entity that most significantly 
impact the entity’s performance and the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits of the entity that could be significant, the 
Company would conclude that it was the primary beneficiary, and as a result, it would consolidate the entity. This would preclude the 
Company from recording an accounting sale on the transaction. In the case of a consolidated VIE, the accounting is consistent with a 
secured financing (i.e., the Company continues to carry the finance receivables and record the securitized debt on the balance sheet). There 
is no specific accounting record of economic interests, but rather, they are captured as the difference between the finance receivable and 
debt accounting. The Company recognizes interest income on the contracts and interest expense on the securities issued in the 
securitization and records as expense a provision for probable finance receivable losses on the contracts. 
 
In transactions where either one or both of the power or economic criteria mentioned above are not met, the Company must determine 
whether or not there is a sale for accounting purposes. In order to achieve a sale for accounting purposes, the assets being transferred must 
be legally isolated, not be constrained by restrictions from further transfer, and be deemed to be beyond the Company’s control. If the 
Company were to fail any of the three criteria for accounting for a sale, the accounting would be consistent with the preceding paragraph (i.e., 
a secured borrowing). However, if the criteria is met, the transaction would be recorded as a sale and the VIE would not be consolidated. 
Presently, the Company has several special purpose entities of which were determined to be VIEs.
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United PanAm Financial Corp. and Subsidiaries
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
 
Note 1. Nature of Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
The Company retains servicing responsibilities for the automobile contracts included in the securitization. The Company also serves as the 
collateral manager for the securitization. The Company is the primary beneficiary and has consolidated all of the VIEs.
 
Servicing costs are charged to expense as incurred but are eliminated with servicing fees in consolidation of the VIEs.  
 
The investors in the securitization trust generally have no recourse to the Company’s other assets outside of customary market 
representation and warranty repurchase provisions. 
 
Premises and equipment: Premises and equipment are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and 
amortization are computed on the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the related assets or terms of the 
leases. Furniture, equipment, computer hardware, software and data processing equipment are generally depreciated over three to five 
years, unless another useful life most closely relates to the asset benefit period. Leasehold improvements on operating leases are amortized 
over a period not exceeding the term of the lease. Additions and major replacements are added to the assets at cost. Maintenance and repair 
costs and minor replacements are charged to expense when incurred. When assets are replaced or otherwise disposed, the cost and 
accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and the gains or losses, if any, are reflected in the consolidated statements of 
operations. The cost of fully depreciated assets and the related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts.
 
Impairment of long-lived assets: The Company estimates the future undiscounted cash flows to be derived from an asset (the estimated 
fair value) to assess whether or not a potential impairment exists but only done when events or circumstances indicate the carrying value of a 
long-lived asset may be impaired. If the carrying value exceeds the Company’s estimate of fair value and the Company determines that 
carrying value would not be recovered from undiscounted future cash flows, the Company then calculates the impairment as the excess of 
the carrying value of the asset over the estimate of its fair value. The Company determined that there were no circumstances requiring 
evaluation for impairment at December 31, 2020.
 
Leases: The Company leases office space under noncancelable operating lease agreements, which expire at various dates through 2024. 
These leases are recorded as operating leases because they do not meet the accounting criteria for capital leases. These leases generally 
contain scheduled rent increases or escalation clauses, renewal options, rent allowances and other rent incentives. The Company 
recognizes rent expense on the Company’s operating leases, excluding these allowances and incentives, which are considered immaterial, 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
 
Repossessed assets: Repossessed assets consist of vehicles and are recorded at their net realizable value (which represents estimated 
fair value less costs to sell). Vehicles are repossessed in the event of nonpayment of indebtedness and sold shortly thereafter. Any difference 
between the estimated sales price (net of expenses) and the finance receivable (net of unearned finance charges) is treated as a charge-off 
first against the related finance receivable’s unearned acquisition discount and the remaining balance, if any, is charged against the 
allowance for finance receivable losses. Repossessed assets are included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
 
Debt issuance costs: Debt issuance costs incurred with the issuance of the Company’s debt are deferred and amortized to interest expense 
over the estimated life of the debt using a method that approximates the effective interest rate method. Debt issuance costs are presented as 
a direct deduction from the carrying amount of debt liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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United PanAm Financial Corp. and Subsidiaries
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
 
Note 1. Nature of Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Fair value of financial instruments: Fair values of financial instruments are estimated using relevant market information and other 
assumptions. Fair value estimates involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment regarding interest rates, credit risk, prepayments 
and other factors, especially in the absence of broad markets for particular items. Changes in assumptions or market conditions could 
significantly affect the estimates. The Company is not required to, nor has it elected to, carry any recurring financial assets or liabilities at fair 
value. The Company has nonrecurring financial assets, such as repossessed assets, which are required to be carried at fair value less cost 
to sell.
 
Fair Value Determination: ASC Topic 820, “Fair Value Measurement,” defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value 
including a three-level valuation hierarchy, and requires disclosures about fair value measurements. Fair value is defined as the exchange 
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date reflecting assumptions that a market participant would use when pricing an asset or liability. The hierarchy uses three 
levels of inputs to measure the fair value of assets and liabilities as follows:
  

• Level 1 - Valuation is based on quoted prices for identical instruments traded in active markets.

• Level 2 - Valuation is based on quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar 
instruments in markets that are not active; and model-derived valuations whose inputs are observable and can be corroborated 
by market data.

• Level 3 - Valuation is based on significant unobservable inputs for determining the fair value of assets or liabilities. These 
significant unobservable inputs reflect assumptions that market participants may use in pricing the assets or liabilities.

 
Given the nature of some of the Company’s assets and liabilities, clearly determinable market-based valuation inputs are often not available; 
therefore, these assets and liabilities are valued using internal estimates. As subjectivity exists with respect to the valuation estimates used, 
the fair values disclosed may not equal prices that can ultimately be realized if the assets are sold or the liabilities are settled with third 
parties.
 
Loss contingencies: Loss contingencies, including claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business, are recorded as 
liabilities when the likelihood of loss is probable and an amount or range of loss can be reasonably estimated. Management does not believe 
there are any such matters that will have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.
 
Stock-based compensation: The Black-Scholes model was utilized to estimate the fair value of stock options as equity awards. 
Compensation cost is recognized over the required service period, generally defined as the vesting period. 
 
Income taxes: The Company is a member of a group that files consolidated federal (and state) tax returns. Accordingly, income taxes 
payable to (refundable from) the tax authorities is recognized on the financial statements of the Parent Company who is the taxpayer for 
income tax purposes. The members of the consolidated group allocate payments to any member of the group for the income tax reduction 
resulting from the member’s inclusion in the consolidated return, or the member makes payments to the Parent Company for its allocated 
share of the consolidated income tax liability. This allocation approximates the amounts that would be reported if the Company was 
separately filing its tax returns.
 
Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for 
the future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the consolidated financial statement carrying amounts of existing 
assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
measured using enacted tax rates applicable to the future period in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse.
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In assessing the deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax 
assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during 
the periods in which temporary differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of temporary differences, 
projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Based upon the level of historical income and 
projections for future income over the periods in which the deferred tax assets are expected to be deductible, management believes it is 
more likely than not that the Company will realize the benefits of almost all of the deductible differences at December 31, 2020.
 
The Company is subject to the guidance for accounting for uncertainty in tax positions taken or expected to be taken on a tax return. The tax 
effects from an uncertain tax position can be recognized in the financial statements only if, based on its merits, the position is more likely than 
not to be sustained on audit by the taxing authorities. Interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions, if any, are recorded as part of 
other expenses. Management believes that all tax positions taken to date are highly certain and, accordingly, no provision has been made to 
the consolidated financial statements. The Company is subject to California and other state income tax in all states in which it operates. In 
addition to 2020, the federal income tax returns for the years ended December 31, 2017 through 2019 are open to audit by the federal 
authorities, and the California and other state tax returns for the years ended December 31, 2016 through 2019 are open to audit by state 
authorities. The Company files consolidated U.S. federal and state income tax returns with its Parent Company.
 
Concentration of credit risk: Concentration of credit risk with respect to finance receivables is limited due to the large number of customers 
comprising the Company’s customer base and their dispersion among different industries and geographical areas. However, the Company is 
exposed to a concentration of credit risk inherent in providing alternative financing programs to borrowers who cannot obtain traditional bank 
financing.
 
Recently issued accounting standards: In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The core principle for 
lessee accounting covered in ASU 2016-02 is that a lessee should recognize the assets and liabilities that arise from leases. The main 
resulting change in this update will require lessees to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for those leases 
classified as operating leases under previous GAAP. Lessor accounting will remain largely unchanged from previous GAAP. Amendments in 
this update were effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019 for nonpublic entities (See ASU 2019-10 below). 
Early adoption is permitted. In July 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-11, Leases (Topic 842): Targeted Improvements, which provide entities 
with an additional (and optional) transition method to adopt the new leases standard. Under this new transition method, an entity initially 
applies the new leases standard at the adoption date and recognizes a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained 
earnings in the period of adoption. Consequently, an entity’s reporting for the comparative periods presented in the financial statements in 
which it adopts the new leases standard will continue to be in accordance with current GAAP (Topic 840, Leases). 
 
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial 
Instruments. The amendments in this update require a financial asset (or a group of financial assets) measured at amortized cost basis to be 
presented at the net amount expected to be collected. The allowance for credit losses is a valuation account that is deducted from the 
amortized cost basis of the financial asset(s) to present the net carrying value at the amount expected to be collected on the financial asset. 
Amendments in this update were effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, and interim periods within fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2021 for nonpublic entities (See ASU 2019-10 below).
 
Note 1. Nature of Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
 
In November 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-11, Codification Improvements to Topic 326, to address issues raised by stakeholders during 
the implementation of ASU 2016-13. ASU 2019-11 clarifies the treatment of expected recoveries for amounts previously written off on 
purchased receivables, among other items.
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In November 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-10, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326), and Leases (Topic 842): Effective 
Dates, which delays the effective dates of ASU 2016-13 and 2016-02 for certain entities. With the delay in the effective dates of ASU 2016-
13 and 2016-02 resulting from ASU 2019-10, ASU 2016-13 is effective for the Company for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, 
and ASU 2016-02 is effective for the Company for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. In May 2020, the FASB issued ASU 
2020-05, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) and Leases (Topic 842): Effective Dates for Certain Entities, which further 
delays the effective date of ASU 2016-02 for the Company for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. The Company is currently 
evaluating the effects of these ASUs on its consolidated financial statements and disclosures.
 
Other accounting pronouncements issued but not yet effective are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial 
condition, liquidity or results of operations.
 
 

14



United PanAm Financial Corp. and Subsidiaries
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
 
Note 2. Finance Receivables and Allowance for Finance Receivable Losses
The Company’s typical borrower has a credit history that may fail to meet the lending standards of most banks, credit unions and captive 
automobile finance companies. Substantially all of the Company’s automobile contracts involve finance receivables made to individuals with 
limited or impaired credit histories. The Company believes that its borrower credit profile is similar to that of its direct competitors in the 
subprime automobile finance business. The Company also believes that the underwriting criteria and risk management system, coupled with 
close senior management supervision, enhances its risk management and collection functions.
 
In deciding whether to acquire a particular contract, the Company considers various factors, including:
 

• The applicant’s length of residence
• The applicant’s current and prior job status 
• The applicant’s history in making other installment finance receivable payments 
• The applicant’s payment record on previous automobile finance receivables 
• The applicant’s current income and discretionary spending ability 
• The applicant’s credit history 
• The value of the automobile in relation to the purchase price 
• The term of the contract 
• The automobile make and mileage 
• The Company’s prior experience with contracts acquired from the dealer

 
Borrowers under the contracts typically make down payments, in the form of cash or trade-in, ranging from 6 percent to 30 percent of the 
sale price of the vehicle financed. The balance of the purchase price of the vehicle plus taxes, title fees and, if applicable, premiums are 
generally financed over a period of 24 to 66 months.
 
Finance receivables are summarized as follows at December 31, 2020 (dollars in thousands):
 
  2020  
Finance receivables:    

Finance receivables  $ 542,410  
Unearned acquisition discounts   (49,627 )
Allowance for finance receivable losses   (45,360 )
Deferred acquisition costs   5,060  

Total finance receivables, net  $ 452,483  
    
Allowance for finance receivable losses to gross finance receivables,    

net of unearned acquisition discounts   9.2 %
Unearned acquisition discounts to gross finance receivables   9.1 %
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Note 2. Finance Receivables and Allowance for Finance Receivable Losses (Continued)
The activity in the unearned acquisition discounts consists of the following as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020 (dollars in 
thousands):
 
  2020  
    
Unearned acquisition discounts at beginning of year  $ 56,741  

Acquisition of new finance receivables   48,179  
Amortization of unearned acquisition discounts   (46,801 )
Charge-offs   (8,492 )

Unearned acquisition discounts at end of year  $ 49,627  
 
Unearned acquisition discounts include discounts of consolidated VIEs of $42.8 million at December 31, 2020.
 
The activity in the allowance for finance receivable losses consists of the following as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020 (dollars 
in thousands):
 

  2020  
    

Allowance for finance receivable losses at beginning of year  $ 26,366  
Provision for finance receivable losses   80,173  
Net charge-offs   (61,179 )

Allowance for finance receivable losses at end of year  $ 45,360  
 
Allowance for finance receivable losses includes allowance of consolidated VIEs of $40.8 million at December 31, 2020.
 
The Company records the direct costs incurred in the repossession process as a component of the charge-off of the related finance 
receivable. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the total amount of such repossession expenses included with charge-offs in the 
schedule above totaled $4.8 million.
 
Nonaccrual finance receivables represent the aggregate amount of finance receivables over 90 days delinquent. Total finance receivables on 
nonaccrual were $8.3 million at December 31, 2020. Total foregone interest related to nonaccrual finance receivables was $0.6 million at 
December 31, 2020. It is not practical to compute the amount of interest earned on impaired finance receivables. 
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Note 2. Finance Receivables and Allowance for Finance Receivable Losses (Continued)
The following is an assessment of the credit quality of the finance receivables as of December 31 (dollars in thousands):
 
   2020  
   Amount  Percent  
       
Finance receivables, gross   $ 542,410    
       
Delinquencies:       

31 to 60 days   $ 32,257   5.9 %
61 to 90 days    13,083   2.4 %
More than 90 days    7,931   1.5 %

Total delinquencies   $ 53,271   9.8 %
 
The Company’s finance receivables associated with customers in bankruptcy include $4.2 million at December 31, 2020.
 
Allowance for finance receivable losses is based on the credit risk and actual performance of individual static pools, which includes impaired 
finance receivables. As such, there is no specific allowance for impaired finance receivables.
 
While the ultimate magnitude and duration of the impact from COVID-19 on the Company’s business remains uncertain, it may negatively 
affect the Company’s business and financial condition. However, the Company did continue to experience strong cash collections and 
experienced positive trending on net charge-off balances.
 
The length and scope of the restrictions imposed by various governments, success of efforts to find and implement suitable vaccines, and 
scope and duration of special government benefits to the unemployed, among other factors, will determine the ultimate severity of the 
COVID-19 impact on the Company’s business. It is likely that prolonged periods of difficult market conditions could have an adverse impact 
on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. However, the Company is unable to accurately predict 
the overall impact at this time.
 
 
Note 3. Premises and Equipment
Premises and equipment are as follows at December 31 (dollars in thousands):
 
  2020  
    
Furniture and equipment  $ 19,413  
Leasehold improvements   2,138  
   21,551  
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization   (16,589 )

Total premises and equipment, net  $ 4,962  
 
Depreciation and amortization expense included in occupancy expense in the consolidated statements of operations was $1.4 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2020.
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Note 3. Premises and Equipment (Continued)
 
Additionally, $0.6 million of expenses related to internally developed software were capitalized in 2020. Construction-in-progress included in 
furniture and equipment was $0.7 million at December 31, 2020.
 
Note 4. Other Assets
Other assets consist of the following at December 31 (dollars in thousands):
 
  2020  
    
Prepaid expenses  $ 1,942  
Other receivable   764  
Security deposits   34  
Repossessed assets   3,418  
Other   310  

Total other assets  $ 6,468  
 
Note 5. Notes Payable of Consolidated VIE’s
The Company’s subsidiary, UACC, has three senior secured warehouse facility agreements (the First Facility, Second Facility and Third 
Facility) with banking institutions. 
 
The First Facility dated May 30, 2012, as amended, is with a bank that provides for an aggregate borrowing limit of $150 million as of 
December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, the First Facility bears interest at LIBOR plus a margin of interest of 1.75 percent. Interest is 
payable monthly. The First Facility is collateralized by eligible finance receivables. Available borrowings are computed based on a 
percentage of eligible finance receivables. There were $87.0 million of eligible finance receivables pledged to this facility as of December 31, 
2020. There was an outstanding balance of $69.4 million at December 31, 2020. There were unamortized debt issuance costs of $0.2 million 
related to the First Facility at December 31, 2020. There was restricted cash of $4.8 million related to this facility at December 31, 2020. The 
First Facility matures on October 20, 2022 and is subject to certain financial and other covenants that restrict certain operating activities and 
require certain reporting activities by the Company.
 
The Second Facility dated November 19, 2013, as amended, is with a bank that provides for an aggregate borrowing limit of $100 million as 
of December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, the Second Facility bears interest at LIBOR plus a margin of interest of 1.90 percent. 
Interest is payable monthly. The Second Facility is collateralized by eligible finance receivables. Available borrowings are computed based on 
a percentage of eligible finance receivables. There were $0 of eligible finance receivables pledged to this facility as of December 31, 2020. 
There was an outstanding balance of $0 at December 31, 2020. There were unamortized debt issuance costs of $0.5 million related to the 
Second Facility at December 31, 2020. There was restricted cash of $0 related to this facility at December 31, 2020. The Second Facility is 
also required to have a hedge cash reserve amount that is the greater of $50,000 or the quoted price for an interest rate cap with a cap rate 
of 5 percent. Currently, the hedge reserve restricted cash account is $0. The Second Facility matures on September 28, 2022 and is subject 
to certain financial and other covenants that restrict certain operating activities and require certain reporting activities by the Company.
 
Note 5.       Notes Payable of Consolidated VIE’s (Continued)
 
The Third Facility dated July 11, 2019, as amended, is with a bank that provides for an aggregate borrowing limit of $100 million as of 
December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, the Third Facility bears interest at LIBOR plus a margin of interest of 1.875 percent. Interest 
is payable monthly. The Third Facility is collateralized by eligible finance receivables. Available borrowings are computed based on a 
percentage of eligible finance receivables. There were $50.0 million of eligible finance receivables pledged to this facility as of December 31, 
2020. There was an outstanding balance of $34.6 million at December 31, 2020. There were unamortized debt issuance costs of $0.5 million 
related to the Third Facility at December 31, 2020. 
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There was restricted cash of $3.6 million related to this facility at December 31, 2020. The Third Facility matures on October 5, 2022 and is 
subject to certain financial and other covenants that restrict certain operating activities and require certain reporting activities by the 
Company.
 
Note 6. Securitization Debt of Consolidated VIE’s 
The securitization debt is structured as on-balance-sheet transactions and recorded as secured financings. The debt was issued through 
wholly owned bankruptcy remote subsidiaries of UACC and is secured by the assets of such subsidiaries, but not by other assets of the 
Company. 
 
The use of these securitizations is an integral part of the Company’s business plan in order to increase the liquidity and reduce risks 
associated with interest rate fluctuations. The Company has developed a securitization program that involves selling interests in pools of the 
automobile contracts to investors through the private issuance of Money Market/AAA/AA/A/BBB/BB/B-rated asset-backed securities to 
qualified institutional investors. The Company retains the servicing rights for the finance receivables that have been securitized; therefore, the 
Company is responsible for the administration and collection of the contracts. The securitization agreements also require certain funds to be 
held in restricted cash accounts to provide additional collateral for the borrowings or to be applied to make payments on the securitization 
debt. Restricted cash under the various agreements totaled approximately $32.2 million at December 31, 2020. Interest expense on the 
securitization debt is composed of the stated rate of interest plus amortization of additional costs of borrowing. Additional costs of borrowing 
include facility fees, insurance premiums, amortization of transaction costs and amortization of discounts required on the notes at the time of 
issuance. Debt issuance costs related to the securitization debt are amortized using a method that approximates the effective interest rate 
method. There were $1.7 million unamortized debt issuance costs related to the securitization debt at December 31, 2020. Accordingly, the 
effective cost of borrowing of the securitization debt is greater than the stated rate of interest. 
 
Upon the issuance of securitization debt, the Company retains the right to receive over time excess cash flows from the underlying pool of 
securitized automobile contracts. In the Company’s securitizations to date, it has transferred automobile contracts the Company purchased 
from automobile dealers to a newly formed owner trust for each transaction. The trust then issued the securitization debt. The net proceeds 
of the Company’s securitizations are first used to pay off certain borrowings under warehouse facilities and the remaining net proceeds are 
used to fund the Company’s operations. 
 
The wholly owned bankruptcy remote subsidiaries of UACC were formed to facilitate the above asset- backed financing transactions. 
Bankruptcy remote refers to a legal structure in which it is expected that the applicable entity would not be included in any bankruptcy filing 
by its parent or affiliates. All of the assets of these subsidiaries have been pledged as collateral for the related debt.  All such transactions, 
treated as secured financings for accounting and tax purposes, are treated as sales for all other purposes, including legal and bankruptcy 
purposes. None of the assets of these subsidiaries are available to pay other creditors of the Company or its affiliates.
 
Note 6. Securitization Debt of Consolidated VIE’s (Continued)
The Company has completed several term securitizations that have been structured as secured financings for financial reporting purposes. 
The remaining securitized transactions outstanding are noted below. The debt issued is included in securitization debt on the consolidated 
balance sheets for 2020 and comprises the following components (dollars in thousands):
 
Aggregate Principal Balance of Finance Receivables at December 31,
 
  2020  
    
United Auto Credit 2018-2  $ 36,420  
United Auto Credit 2019-1   111,314  
United Auto Credit 2020-1   200,803  
  $ 348,537  
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     Interest Rate at  Principal at  
 Initial Date of Final Scheduled Initial  December 31,  December 31,  

Series Securitization Payment Date * Principal  2020  2020  
         
United Auto Credit 2018-2-D August 8, 2018 May 10, 2023 $ 26,000   4.26 % $ 11,750  
United Auto Credit 2018-2-E August 8, 2018 May 10, 2023  17,000   5.26 %  17,000  
United Auto Credit 2018-2-F August 8, 2018 June 10, 2025  7,000   6.82 %  7,000  
United Auto Credit 2019-1-C May 22, 2019 August 12, 2024  33,700   3.16 %  31,270  
United Auto Credit 2019-1-D May 22, 2019 August 12, 2024  39,840   3.47 %  39,840  
United Auto Credit 2019-1-E May 22, 2019 August 12, 2024  21,920   4.29 %  21,920  
United Auto Credit 2019-1-F May 22, 2019 January 12, 2026  14,860   6.05 %  14,860  
United Auto Credit 2020-1-A June 30, 2020 May 10, 2022  116,420   0.85 %  50,165  
United Auto Credit 2020-1-B June 30, 2020 November 10, 2022  32,780   1.47 %  32,780  
United Auto Credit 2020-1-C June 30, 2020 February 10, 2025  32,780   2.15 %  32,780  
United Auto Credit 2020-1-D June 30, 2020 February 10, 2025  31,450   2.88 %  31,450  
United Auto Credit 2020-1-E June 30, 2020 February 10, 2025  18,730   5.19 %  18,730  
United Auto Credit 2020-1-F June 30, 2020 January 12, 2026  7,360   9.08 %  7,360  
         
         
   $ 399,840     316,905  

   Unamortized debt 
issuance costs     1,696  

   Outstanding principal, 
net    $ 315,209  

* The Final Scheduled Payment Date represents final legal maturity of the securitization debt. Securitization debt is expected to become due and to be paid prior to those dates, 
based on amortization of the finance receivables pledged to the Trusts. Expected payments, which will depend on the performance of such receivables, as to which there can be 
no assurance, are $176.3 million in 2021, $98.2 million in 2022, $37.3 million in 2023 and $5.2 million in 2024.
 
Note 7. Senior Loan 
The senior loan agreement dated June 22, 2017, as amended, is with related parties and management that provide for an aggregate 
borrowing limit of $15 million as of December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, the senior loan bears interest at 15% per annum. Interest 
is paid monthly on the last day of the month. There was an outstanding balance of $7.0 million at December 31, 2020. The senior loan is 
collateralized by pledged shares of the Company and matures on November 8, 2021. The Company may repay the loan at any time without 
premium or penalty. 
 
Note 8. Junior Subordinated Debentures
On July 31, 2003, the Company issued junior subordinated debentures (trust preferred securities) of $10 million through a subsidiary, UPFC 
Trust I. The trust issuer is a 100 percent owned finance subsidiary and the Company fully and unconditionally guaranteed the securities. 
Interest on these funds accrues at a rate equal to the three-month LIBOR plus 3.05 percent, variable quarterly. The final maturity of these 
securities is on October 7, 2033; however, they can be called at par any time at the Company’s discretion.
 
Note 9. Dividends
The Company has not declared or paid any cash dividends on its common stock since inception. The payment of any future dividends will be 
at the discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors and will depend upon, among other things, future earnings, operations, capital 
requirements and its general financial conditions, general business conditions and contractual restrictions on payment of dividends, if any. 
The Company’s ability to pay dividends on its common stock is also subject to the restrictions of the California Corporations Code.
 
Note 10. Income Taxes
Income tax expense for the year ended December 31 consists of the following (dollars in thousands):
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  2020  
Federal taxes:    

Current  $ 6,197  
Deferred   (3,328 )

   2,869  
    
State taxes:    

Current   1,480  
Deferred   (642 )

   838  
Total income tax  $ 3,707  

 
 
 
Note 10. Income Taxes (Continued)
 
The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant items comprising the Company’s net deferred taxes as of December 31 
are as follows (dollars in thousands):
 
  2020  
Deferred tax assets:    

Allowance for finance receivable losses  $ 11,084  
Mark to market adjustments on finance receivables   1,812  
Net operating loss   2,440  
Stock-based compensation   766  
Accrued expenses   751  
Tax credits   965  

   17,818  
Valuation allowance   (216 )

Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance   17,602  
    

Deferred tax liabilities:    
Depreciation and amortization   (767 )
Deferred acquisition costs   (977 )
Prepaid expenses   (275 )

Total deferred tax liabilities   (2,019 )
Net deferred tax assets  $ 15,583  

 
Note 10. Income Taxes (Continued)
Income tax expense attributable to pretax income differed from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal income tax rate of 21 
percent in 2020 to pretax income from continuing operations as a result of the following for the year ended December 31:
 
  2020  
    
Expected statutory rate   21.0 %
State taxes, net of federal benefits   5.4 %
Permanent differences   0.1 %
Tax credits   (4.1 %)
Other, net   0.3 %

Effective tax rate   22.7 %
 
Realization of deferred tax assets associated with the net operating loss carryforwards is dependent upon generating sufficient taxable 
income prior to their expiration. At December 31, 2020, the Company has 
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available state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $14.8 million, which expire at various dates from 2020 to 2036. As of 
December 31, 2020, there are $6.8 million in federal operating loss carryforwards, which expire beginning in 2030. Any federal operating 
losses generated after December 31, 2017 will carryforward indefinitely and will be available to offset up to 80 percent of future taxable 
income each year. Deferred tax assets are recognized for net operating losses subject to management’s judgment that realization of the 
benefit is more likely than not. The deferred tax assets related to several of the Company’s state jurisdictions have been partially reserved 
because they are not more likely than not to be realized due to the Company’s reduced activity in those states.
 
The Tax Reform Act of 1986 contains provisions that could substantially limit the availability of net operating loss carryforwards. This 
limitation generally applies if there is a greater than 50 percent change in ownership during a three-year period. In February 2011, the 
Company experienced such an ownership change, which resulted in a limitation on its ability to utilize net operating loss carryforwards that 
existed at that date. The limitation is based upon the value of the Company on the date that the effective change in ownership occurred. The 
ultimate realization of the federal loss carryforwards is limited to approximately $3.5 million annually and the state loss carryforwards are also 
limited to varying amounts annually and is dependent on the future profitability of the Company. 
 
On March 27, 2020, the United States enacted the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (CARES Act). The Cares Act is an 
emergency economic stimulus package that includes spending and tax breaks to strengthen the United States economy and fund a 
nationwide effort to curtail the effect of COVID-19.  While the CARES Act provides sweeping tax changes in response to the COVID-19 
pandemic, some of the more significant provisions which are expected to impact the Company’s financial statements include removal of 
certain limitations on utilization of net operating losses, increasing the loss carryback period for certain losses to five years, and increasing 
the ability to deduct interest expense, as well as amending certain provisions of the previously enacted Tax Cuts and Jobs Act.  The 
Company doesn't believe that the CARES Act will have a material impact on its financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.
 
On December 27, 2020, the United States enacted the Consolidated Appropriations Act which extended many of the benefits of the CARES 
Act that were scheduled to expire. The Company is evaluating the impact of the Consolidated Appropriations Act on its consolidated financial 
statements and related disclosures.
 
Note 11. Commitments and Contingencies
All three office locations, including headquarters, are leased under noncancelable operating leases expiring at various dates through 2024. A 
majority of the leases provide that the Company pay all property taxes, insurance and maintenance, which are excluded from the future 
minimum rental payments below. 
 
The total rental expense included in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2020 is $1.3 million. Future 
minimum rental payments as of December 31, 2020 under existing noncancelable leases are set forth as follows (dollars in thousands):
 
Years Ending December 31,  Amount  
    
2021  $ 977  
2022   996  
2023   673  
2024   188  
              Total  $ 2,834  
 
The Company is involved in various claims or legal actions arising in the normal course of business. In the opinion of management, the 
ultimate disposition of such matters will not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, cash flows or results of 
operations.
 
Note 12. Stock-Based Compensation
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In December 2011, the Company’s parent and 100 percent shareholder (Parent Company), approved a management compensation incentive 
plan (the 2011 Plan). The 2011 Plan gave the Parent Company’s Board of Directors the authority to grant stock options. The maximum 
number of shares that may be issued to officers, directors, employees or consultants under the 2011 Plan is 9,670, as adjusted in 2015. In 
conjunction with the 2014 and 2015 share repurchases and as allowed under the 2011 Plan, the Parent Company adjusted the maximum 
number of shares available under the 2011 Plan and the number of awards each participant was granted. As such, in 2015 the maximum 
number of shares under the 2011 Plan decreased from 10,949 to 9,670. The Company determined that there was no incremental cost to be 
recorded as a result of the modification. The options under the 2011 Plan generally vest over a one- to five-year period and have a maximum 
contractual term of 10 years subject to market and performance conditions, as defined. As of December 31, 2020, 2,767 unallocated options 
were available to be granted under the 2011 Plan. However, in the event of a liquidity transaction or change in control, any options not 
granted or allocated are required to be distributed to existing participants of the 2011 Plan at the direction of the Board of Directors.
 
On December 29, 2011, the Parent Company granted or allocated employees of the Company options under this plan. The grants were 
separated in three separate tranches for each employee. Each tranche defines its own service, performance and/or market conditions. 
Performance conditions for one of the tranches (Tranche 3) are based upon an individual’s annual performance goals as proposed by the 
chief executive officer and approved by the Parent Company’s Compensation Committee and Board of Directors. Since the performance 
goals are set annually, awards allocated in this tranche are not considered granted under the provisions of ASC 718, Compensation, until the 
participant and the Parent Company mutually agree on the terms of the performance goals (performed annually). The Company has 
allocated awards in this tranche to specific employees. As of December 31, 2020, all such awards have been granted. Market conditions are 
based upon an internal rate of return achieved by the Investors (as defined in the 2011 Plan) based upon their original investment on the date 
of the February 2011 merger.
 
In 2012 the Parent Company elected to use the equity value method of accounting for stock-based compensation. As such, the Company 
estimated the fair value of the awards using the Black-Scholes Option Valuation Model, which uses the assumptions noted below, and 
recorded the incremental cost, which represented the compensation expense recorded under the equity method and modified expense. For 
the awards prior to 2013, the risk-free interest rate assumption in the Black- Scholes model has been adjusted downward for the annual fixed 
increase in exercise price of 10 percent, where necessary.
 
There was no stock compensation expense related to the 2011 Plan for the year ended December 31, 2020 as all options were fully vested 
prior to January 1, 2019.
 
The Board of Directors approved a special bonus award payable in shares of Company stock to certain officers of the Company.  During the 
year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded stock bonus reward related to such shares of $294,000. This stock award was 
satisfied in early 2021 with the issuance of 391 shares of stock to the officers. 
 
Note 12.     Stock-Based Compensation (Continued)
 
A summary of option activity under the Plan is presented below:
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   2020  
     Weighted-  
     Average  
     Exercise  
   Shares  Price *  
       
Balance at beginning of year    6,903  $ 730  

Canceled or expired    -   -  
Balance at end of year    6,903   730  
       
       
* The weighted-average exercise price doesn't account for 10% accretion.     
A summary of options by tranche, all of which are vested as of December 31 is presented below:
 
  2020  
    
Subject to service conditions–Tranche 1   2,301  
Subject to market and service conditions–Tranche 2   2,390  
Subject to performance and service conditions–Tranche 3   2,212  
   6,903  
 
If a liquidity event or change of control was probable at December 31, 2020, the Company would expect all of the shares under the Plan to 
become granted and fully vested. The following table displays a summary of options vested by tranche under the 2011 Plan as of December 
31 in the event a liquidity event or change of control was probable:
 
  2020  
    
Subject to service conditions–Tranche 1   3,223  
Subject to market and service conditions–Tranche 2   4,235  
Subject to performance and service conditions–Tranche 3   2,212  
   9,670  
 
 
Note 13. Employee Benefit Plans
The Company maintains a 401(k) profit sharing plan (the 401(k) Plan) for the benefit of all eligible employees. The Company will match, at its 
discretion, 50 percent of the amount contributed by the employee up to a maximum of 6 percent of the employee’s total compensation. The 
contribution made by the Company in 2020 was $0.7 million.
 
The Company has one nonqualified defined benefit salary continuation agreement with the Company’s chairman of the Board of Directors. In 
connection with the salary continuation plan, the Company has purchased life insurance policies that are written with different carriers. The 
Company is the designated beneficiary of the policies. The cash surrender value of the policies is $1.3 million at December 31, 2020. 
 
Note 13.     Employee Benefit Plans (Continued)
The chairman will be entitled to payments totaling $100 thousand per year for 15 years upon retirement. Compensation expense was fully 
accrued based on the present value of future benefits over the service period of the chairman using a discount rate of 8 percent. Accrued 
compensation payable related to the plan was $904.7 thousand at December 31, 2020.
 
Note 14. Disclosures About Fair Value
The Company uses fair value accounting to report repossessed assets. Additional fair value disclosures are required and are included in the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, the application of valuation techniques applied 
to similar assets and liabilities 
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has been consistent. The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for instruments measured and/or disclosed at fair 
value:
 
Fair value on a recurring basis: There were no assets or liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of or during the year 
ended December 31, 2020.
 
Fair value on a nonrecurring basis: Certain assets and liabilities are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis; that is, the 
instruments are not measured at fair value on an ongoing basis but are subject to fair value adjustments in certain circumstances (for 
example, when there is evidence of impairment). The tables below present the balance of assets, measured and presented in the 
consolidated balance sheets at December 31, at fair value on a nonrecurring basis (dollars in thousands):
 

 2020  
 Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  
         
Repossessed assets $ 3,739  $ -  $ 3,739  $ -  
 
 
The fair value of repossessed assets was determined based on comparable recent sales and adjusted for various factors, including age of 
the vehicle and known changes in the market and in the collateral. 
 
In determining the appropriate application of the levels of the valuation hierarchy, the Company performs a detailed analysis of the assets 
and liabilities. At each reporting period, all assets and liabilities for which the fair value is based on significant unobservable inputs are 
classified as Level 3.
 
 
Below is a description of the valuation methods for the assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on either a recurring or nonrecurring basis 
and for estimating fair value of financial instruments not recorded at fair value for disclosure purposes. While management believes the 
valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to 
determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different estimate of fair value at the measurement date.
 
Note 14.     Disclosures About Fair Value (Continued)
 
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash: Cash and restricted cash are recorded at historical cost. The carrying amount is a 
reasonable estimate of fair value as these instruments have short-term maturities and interest rates that approximate market, a Level 1 
measurement.
 
Finance receivables: Finance receivables are recorded at their outstanding principal balance, net of purchase discounts, deferred loan 
origination fees/costs, and allowance for finance receivable losses. The Company determined the fair value estimate of finance receivables 
using unobservable inputs including discount rates, prepayment speeds, loss severity, and default rates. 
 
Notes payable of consolidated VIE’s, securitization debt of consolidated VIE’s, senior loan from related parties and junior subordinated 
debentures (Collectively referred to as Corporate Debt): The Company determined the fair values estimate of its Corporate debt using the 
estimated cash flows discounted at an appropriate market rate, a Level 3 measurement.
 
Accrued interest receivable and accrued interest payable: The carrying amounts of accrued interest receivable and accrued interest payable 
approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments, a Level 1 measurement.
 
A financial instrument is cash, evidence of an ownership interest in an entity, or a contract that creates a contractual obligation or right to 
deliver or receive cash or another financial instrument from a second entity 
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on potentially favorable terms. The methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of the Company’s financial instruments are 
described above.
 
The following tables present carrying amounts and estimated fair values of certain financial instruments as of the dates indicated (in 
thousands):
 
 
 December 31, 2020  

Asset category
Carrying

Value  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  
Estimated
Fair Value  

           
Assets:           
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,224  $ 4,224  $ -  $ -  $ 4,224  
Restricted Cash  40,532   40,532       40,532  
Finance receivables, net  452,483       497,895   497,895  
Accrued interest receivable  8,650   8,650       8,650  
           
           
Liabilities:           

Notes payable of consolidated VIE's $ 102,872  $ -  $ -  $ 102,872  $ 102,872  
Securitization debt of consolidated VIE's  315,209       315,209   315,209  
Senior loan from related parties  7,000       7,000   7,000  
Junior subordinated debentures  10,310       10,310   10,310  
Accrued interest payable  820   820       820  

 
Note 15. Subsequent Events
On February 1, 2021, the Company repaid the senior loan of $7.0 million.
 
On March 11, 2021, the Company completed another securitization transaction with an initial aggregate principal balance of $249.3 million. 
The debt issued is comprised of the following components (dollars in thousands):
 

     Contractual  
 Initial Date of Final Scheduled Initial  Interest Rate at  

Series Securitization Payment Date Principal  March 11, 2021  
       
United Auto Credit 2021-1-A March 11, 2021 July 10, 2023 $ 122,070   0.34 %
United Auto Credit 2021-1-B March 11, 2021 March 11, 2024  33,540   0.68 %
United Auto Credit 2021-1-C March 11, 2021 June 10, 2026  29,640   0.84 %
United Auto Credit 2021-1-D March 11, 2021 June 10, 2026  29,380   1.14 %
United Auto Credit 2021-1-E March 11, 2021 June 10, 2026  20,800   2.58 %
United Auto Credit 2021-1-F March 11, 2021 September 10, 2027  13,910   4.30 %
   $ 249,340    
 
The Company used the net proceeds from this transaction to pay down its bank notes payable and for general operating purposes. 
 
The Company has evaluated subsequent events through March 12, 2021, the date on which the consolidated financial statements were 
available to be issued.
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United PanAm Financial Corp. and Subsidiaries    
    
Consolidated Balance Sheet (Unaudited)    
September 30, 2021    
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)    
    
    
    
Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 2,801  
Restricted cash (held entirely through consolidated VIEs)   41,267  

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   44,068  
Finance receivables, net (including finance receivables of consolidated VIEs    

of $424 million)   499,099  
Premises and equipment, net   4,331  
Interest receivable   8,392  
Deferred tax assets   15,576  
Cash surrender value of life insurance   1,281  
Other assets   6,386  

Total assets  $ 579,133  
    

    
Liabilities and Stockholder’s Equity    
Liabilities    

Notes payable of consolidated VIEs  $ 89,843  
Securitization debt of consolidated VIEs   345,351  
Junior subordinated debentures   10,310  
Accrued expenses and other liabilities   30,241  

Total liabilities   475,745  
    

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 11)    
    

Stockholder’s Equity    
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 100 shares authorized,    

issued, and outstanding   -  
Paid-in capital   17,985  
Retained earnings   85,403  

Total stockholder’s equity   103,388  
Total liabilities and stockholder’s equity  $ 579,133  

    
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.    
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United PanAm Financial Corp. and Subsidiaries    
    
Consolidated Statement of Operations (Unaudited)    
For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2021    
(Dollars in thousands)    
    
    
    
Interest income  $ 120,379  
    
Interest expense:    

Notes payable   2,348  
Securitization debt   8,852  
Senior loan with related parties   89  
Junior subordinated debentures   245  

Total interest expense   11,534  
Net interest income   108,845  
    

Provision for finance receivable losses   32,591  
Net interest income after provision for    
       finance receivable losses   76,254  

    
Noninterest income   3,707  
    
Noninterest expense:    

Compensation and benefits   29,334  
Occupancy   2,341  
Other noninterest expense   10,446  

Total noninterest expense   42,121  
Income before income tax expense   37,840  
    

Income tax expense   9,649  
Net income  $ 28,191  
    

    
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.    
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United PanAm Financial Corp. and Subsidiaries       
       
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholder’s Equity 
(Unaudited)       
For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2021       
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)       
       
 Paid-In  Retained    
 Capital  Earnings  Total  
       
Balance, December 31, 2020 $ 17,985  $ 57,212  $ 75,197  

Net income  -   28,191   28,191  
Exercised 9.12 of stock options (0)   -  (0)  

Balance, September 30, 2021 $ 17,985  $ 85,403  $ 103,388  
       
       
       
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.       
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United PanAm Financial Corp. and Subsidiaries    
    
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Unaudited)    
For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2021    
(Dollars in thousands)    
    
    
    
Cash flows from operating activities    

Net income  $ 28,191  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by    
operating activities:    

Provision for finance receivable losses   32,591  
Amortization of debt issuance costs   2,123  
Depreciation and amortization   1,223  
Capitalized internal development costs   (296 )
Increase in deferred acquisition costs   (1,126 )
Decrease in accrued interest receivable   258  
Decrease in other assets   278  
Increase in accrued expenses and other liabilities   7,339  

Net cash provided by operating activities   70,581  
    
Cash flows from investing activities    

Acquisition of finance receivables, net of collections received   (78,964 )
Purchase of premises and equipment   (296 )

Net cash used by investing activities   (79,260 )
    
Cash flows from financing activities    

Net decrease in notes payable   (13,099 )
Proceeds from securitization debt   249,340  
Principal payments on securitization debt   (219,064 )
Payments for debt issuance costs   (2,186 )
Principal payments on senior loan   (7,000 )
Exercised 9.12 of stock options  (0)  

Net cash provided by financing activities   7,991  
Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   (688 )

    
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, January 1, 2021   44,756  
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, September 30, 2021  $ 44,068  
    
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information    

Cash payments made for:    
Interest  $ 9,262  

    
Income taxes paid, net  $ 9,704  

    
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.    
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Note 1. Nature of Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Nature of organization: United PanAm Financial Corp. and subsidiaries (the Company) was incorporated in California on April 9, 1998. The 
Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Unitas Holdings Corp. (Parent Company). The Company’s primary business involves the purchase 
and collection of automobile installment contracts from new and used car dealers, with an emphasis on the independent, nonfranchise 
dealer. Retail obligations are secured by liens on vehicle titles. The Company can repossess the vehicle if the borrower fails to meet the 
obligation of the contract. The Company is currently authorized to operate in 49 states, with its primary markets in Florida, California and 
Texas.
 
The Company specializes in receivables from borrowers who generally would not be expected to qualify for traditional financing such as that 
provided by commercial banks or automobile manufacturers’ finance companies. The finance receivables are secured primarily by used 
automobiles.
 
A summary of the Company’s significant accounting policies is as follows:
 
Basis of accounting and principles of consolidation: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its 
wholly owned subsidiaries, UPFC Trust I and United Auto Credit Corporation (UACC). Additionally, the Company has several variable interest 
entities (VIEs) for which UACC is the primary beneficiary. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in 
consolidation.
 
One of the Company’s subsidiaries, UPFC Trust I, is an unconsolidated statutory business trust, which was formed for the exclusive purpose 
of issuing and selling trust preferred securities and holding subordinated debentures issued by the Company. In accordance with Accounting 
Standards Codification (ASC) 810, Consolidation, this trust does not meet the criteria for consolidation. The accompanying consolidated 
balance sheet include in other assets the investment in the trust of $310 thousand as of September 30, 2021.
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America and conform to industry practice. 
 
Use of estimates: In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amount of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimates and assumptions 
included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements relate to the allowance for finance receivable losses, valuation of deferred tax 
assets and net realizable value of repossessed assets.
 
Cash and cash equivalents, cash flows and cash concentrations: Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and interest- and 
noninterest-bearing deposits. The Company periodically maintains balances in various operating accounts in excess of federally insured 
deposit limits. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts. Cash flows from the purchases of and payments related to 
finance receivables and borrowings and repayments on short-term notes payable are recorded net.
 
Restricted cash: The Company collects and services all receivables under the revolving and term securitizations and warehouse facilities. 
These collections are restricted for use until properly remitted each month under the terms of the servicing agreement. 
 
Note 1. Nature of Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Finance receivables and income recognition: The Company generally purchases automobile installment contracts for investment at a 
discount. The discount is consideration for the credit risk associated with the contracts. Finance receivables and contracts held for 
investment are reported at cost, net of unearned acquisition discounts and allowance for finance receivable losses, as well as deferred 
acquisition costs. Unearned acquisition discounts are recognized over the contractual life of the finance receivables using the interest 
method. 
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The Company’s policy is generally to charge off finance receivables at the earlier of (1) the end of the month in which the collateral has been 
repossessed and sold, or (2) the end of the month in which the account is delinquent in excess of 120 days, if not pending sale. If the 
collateral has been repossessed and sold, the charge-off represents the difference between the net sales proceeds and the net amount of 
the delinquent contract. If the account is delinquent in excess of 120 days, the charge-off represents the net amount of the delinquent 
contract. Interest income deemed uncollectible is reversed at the time the finance receivable is charged off. 
 
An account is considered delinquent if a scheduled payment has not been received by the date such payment was contractually due. 
Finance receivables over 90 days delinquent are considered nonaccrual finance receivables. Income is subsequently recognized only to the 
extent cash payments are received until, in management’s judgment, the borrower is able to make periodic interest and principal payments in 
accordance with the finance receivable terms.
 
The Company considers a finance receivable impaired when it is probable that it will be unable to collect all amounts due (principal and 
interest) according to the original terms of the contract. As the finance receivable portfolio is homogenous, the Company evaluates finance 
receivables for impairment collectively.
 
Late charges and other fees are calculated at predetermined amounts or percentages of overdue finance receivable balances and are 
recorded on a cash basis.
 
Deferred acquisition costs: Certain direct receivable acquisition costs are deferred and amortized as an adjustment to the related 
receivable’s yield. The Company is amortizing these amounts over the contractual life of the receivable using a method that approximates the 
effective interest rate method.
 
Allowance for finance receivable losses: The allowance for finance receivable losses is calculated based on incurred loss methodology for 
the amount of probable incurred finance receivable losses inherent in finance receivables as of the reporting date. The Company’s finance 
receivable loss allowance is estimated by management based upon a variety of factors, including an assessment of the credit risk inherent in 
the portfolio and prior loss experience.
 
The allowance for finance receivable losses is established through a provision for finance receivable losses recorded as necessary to provide 
for probable incurred finance receivable losses on existing finance receivables. The Company’s methodology to estimate incurred losses 
uses static pool which stratifies finance receivables and losses based upon the period of origination. The credit risk in each individual static 
pool is evaluated independently in order to estimate the future losses within each pool. The Company evaluates the adequacy of unearned 
discounts to absorb estimated finance receivable losses on a regular basis. To the extent the unearned discount is not considered adequate 
to absorb estimated losses; an increase in the allowance for finance receivable losses is established by a charge to the provision for finance 
receivable losses. The Company evaluates the adequacy of the allowance by examining current delinquencies, the characteristics of the 
portfolio, prospective liquidation values of the underlying collateral, and general economic and market conditions. As circumstances change, 
the Company’s level of provisioning and/or allowance may change as well.
 
 
Note 1. Nature of Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Despite these analyses, the Company recognizes that establishing an allowance is an estimate, which is inherently uncertain and depends 
on the outcome of future events. The Company’s operating results and financial condition are sensitive to changes in its estimate for finance 
receivable losses and the estimate’s underlying assumptions. The Company’s operating results and financial condition are immediately 
impacted as changes in estimates for calculating the allowance for finance receivable losses are recorded in its consolidated statement of 
operations as an addition or reduction in provision expense. Any such adjustment is recorded in the current period as the assessment is 
made.
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Troubled debt restructured finance receivables: Finance receivables associated with customers in bankruptcy may be considered 
troubled debt restructured finance receivables. The Company follows its standard charge-off and nonaccrual policies for the accounts of 
customers in a confirmed bankruptcy under Chapters 7 and 13 of the bankruptcy code. For customers in a Chapter 13 bankruptcy plan, the 
bankruptcy court reduces the interest rate the Company can charge, as it does for most creditors. Once the customer is in a confirmed 
Chapter 13 bankruptcy plan, the Company receives payments with respect to the remaining amount of the finance receivable at the reduced 
interest rate from the bankruptcy trustee. The Company does not believe that accounts in a confirmed Chapter 13 plan have a higher level of 
risk than non-bankrupt accounts. If a customer fails to comply with the terms of the bankruptcy order, the Company will petition the trustee to 
have the customer dismissed from bankruptcy. Upon dismissal, the Company restores the account to the original terms and pursues 
collection through its normal collection activities. 
 
Securitizations and variable interest entities: The Company enters into agreements to securitize, sell and service certain automobile 
contracts. Securitization transactions typically involve the use of VIEs and are accounted for as secured financings. Economic interests in the 
securitized and sold assets are generally retained in the form of senior or subordinated interests, cash reserve accounts, residual interests 
and servicing rights. Prior to securitization, the Company will typically hold finance receivables in separate VIEs.
 
Securitizations are transactions in which the Company sells a specified pool of automobile contracts to a VIE, which in turn issues asset-
backed securities to fund the purchase of the pool of contracts from the Company. The securitization involves identification of specific 
automobile contracts, sale of those contracts to a VIE, and issuance of asset-backed securities to fund the transactions. 
 
In order to conclude whether or not a VIE is required to be consolidated, careful consideration and judgment must be given to the continuing 
involvement with the VIE. In circumstances where the Company has both the power to direct the activities of the entity that most significantly 
impact the entity’s performance and the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits of the entity that could be significant, the 
Company would conclude that it was the primary beneficiary, and as a result, it would consolidate the entity. This would preclude the 
Company from recording an accounting sale on the transaction. In the case of a consolidated VIE, the accounting is consistent with a 
secured financing (i.e., the Company continues to carry the finance receivables and record the securitized debt on the balance sheet). There 
is no specific accounting record of economic interests, but rather, they are captured as the difference between the finance receivable and 
debt accounting. The Company recognizes interest income on the contracts and interest expense on the securities issued in the 
securitization and records as expense a provision for probable finance receivable losses on the contracts. 
 
In transactions where either one or both of the power or economic criteria mentioned above are not met, the Company must determine 
whether or not there is a sale for accounting purposes. In order to achieve a sale for accounting purposes, the assets being transferred must 
be legally isolated, not be constrained by restrictions from further transfer, and be deemed to be beyond the Company’s control. If the 
Company were to fail any of the three criteria for accounting for a sale, the accounting would be consistent with the preceding paragraph (i.e., 
a secured borrowing). However, if the criteria is met, the transaction would be recorded as a sale and the VIE would not be consolidated. 
Presently, the Company has several special purpose entities of which were determined to be VIEs.
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Note 1. Nature of Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
The Company retains servicing responsibilities for the automobile contracts included in the securitization. The Company also serves as the 
collateral manager for the securitization. The Company is the primary beneficiary and has consolidated all of the VIEs.
 
Servicing costs are charged to expense as incurred but are eliminated with servicing fees in consolidation of the VIEs.  
 
The investors in the securitization trust generally have no recourse to the Company’s other assets outside of customary market 
representation and warranty repurchase provisions. 
 
Premises and equipment: Premises and equipment are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and 
amortization are computed on the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the related assets or terms of the 
leases. Furniture, equipment, computer hardware, software and data processing equipment are generally depreciated over three to five 
years, unless another useful life most closely relates to the asset benefit period. Leasehold improvements on operating leases are amortized 
over a period not exceeding the term of the lease. Additions and major replacements are added to the assets at cost. Maintenance and repair 
costs and minor replacements are charged to expense when incurred. When assets are replaced or otherwise disposed, the cost and 
accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and the gains or losses, if any, are reflected in the consolidated statements of 
operations. The cost of fully depreciated assets and the related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts.
 
Impairment of long-lived assets: The Company estimates the future undiscounted cash flows to be derived from an asset (the estimated 
fair value) to assess whether or not a potential impairment exists but only done when events or circumstances indicate the carrying value of a 
long-lived asset may be impaired. If the carrying value exceeds the Company’s estimate of fair value and the Company determines that 
carrying value would not be recovered from undiscounted future cash flows, the Company then calculates the impairment as the excess of 
the carrying value of the asset over the estimate of its fair value. The Company determined that there were no circumstances requiring 
evaluation for impairment at September 30, 2021.
 
Leases: The Company leases office space under noncancelable operating lease agreements, which expire at various dates through 2024. 
These leases are recorded as operating leases because they do not meet the accounting criteria for capital leases. These leases generally 
contain scheduled rent increases or escalation clauses, renewal options, rent allowances and other rent incentives. The Company 
recognizes rent expense on the Company’s operating leases, excluding these allowances and incentives, which are considered immaterial, 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
 
Repossessed assets: Repossessed assets consist of vehicles and are recorded at their net realizable value (which represents estimated 
fair value less costs to sell). Vehicles are repossessed in the event of nonpayment of indebtedness and sold shortly thereafter. Any difference 
between the estimated sales price (net of expenses) and the finance receivable (net of unearned finance charges) is treated as a charge-off 
first against the related finance receivable’s unearned acquisition discount and the remaining balance, if any, is charged against the 
allowance for finance receivable losses. Repossessed assets are included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.
 
Debt issuance costs: Debt issuance costs incurred with the issuance of the Company’s debt are deferred and amortized to interest expense 
over the estimated life of the debt using a method that approximates the effective interest rate method. Debt issuance costs are presented as 
a direct deduction from the carrying amount of debt liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.
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Note 1. Nature of Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Fair value of financial instruments: Fair values of financial instruments are estimated using relevant market information and other 
assumptions. Fair value estimates involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment regarding interest rates, credit risk, prepayments 
and other factors, especially in the absence of broad markets for particular items. Changes in assumptions or market conditions could 
significantly affect the estimates. The Company is not required to, nor has it elected to, carry any recurring financial assets or liabilities at fair 
value. The Company has nonrecurring financial assets, such as repossessed assets, which are required to be carried at fair value less cost 
to sell.
 
Fair Value Determination: ASC Topic 820, “Fair Value Measurement,” defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value 
including a three-level valuation hierarchy, and requires disclosures about fair value measurements. Fair value is defined as the exchange 
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date reflecting assumptions that a market participant would use when pricing an asset or liability. The hierarchy uses three 
levels of inputs to measure the fair value of assets and liabilities as follows:
  

• Level 1 - Valuation is based on quoted prices for identical instruments traded in active markets.
 

• Level 2 - Valuation is based on quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar 
instruments in markets that are not active; and model-derived valuations whose inputs are observable and can be corroborated by 
market data.
 

• Level 3 - Valuation is based on significant unobservable inputs for determining the fair value of assets or liabilities. These significant 
unobservable inputs reflect assumptions that market participants may use in pricing the assets or liabilities.

 
Given the nature of some of the Company’s assets and liabilities, clearly determinable market-based valuation inputs are often not available; 
therefore, these assets and liabilities are valued using internal estimates. As subjectivity exists with respect to the valuation estimates used, 
the fair values disclosed may not equal prices that can ultimately be realized if the assets are sold or the liabilities are settled with third 
parties.
 
Loss contingencies: Loss contingencies, including claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business, are recorded as 
liabilities when the likelihood of loss is probable and an amount or range of loss can be reasonably estimated. Management does not believe 
there are any such matters that will have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.
 
Stock-based compensation: The Black-Scholes model was utilized to estimate the fair value of stock options as equity awards. 
Compensation cost is recognized over the required service period, generally defined as the vesting period. 
 
Income taxes: The Company is a member of a group that files consolidated federal (and state) tax returns. Accordingly, income taxes 
payable to (refundable from) the tax authorities is recognized on the financial statements of the Parent Company who is the taxpayer for 
income tax purposes. The members of the consolidated group allocate payments to any member of the group for the income tax reduction 
resulting from the member’s inclusion in the consolidated return, or the member makes payments to the Parent Company for its allocated 
share of the consolidated income tax liability. This allocation approximates the amounts that would be reported if the Company was 
separately filing its tax returns.
 
Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for 
the future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the consolidated financial statement carrying amounts of existing 
assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
measured using enacted tax rates applicable to the future period in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse.
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In assessing the deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax 
assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during 
the periods in which temporary differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of temporary differences, 
projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Based upon the level of historical income and 
projections for future income over the periods in which the deferred tax assets are expected to be deductible, management believes it is 
more likely than not that the Company will realize the benefits of almost all of the deductible differences at September 30, 2021.
 
The Company is subject to the guidance for accounting for uncertainty in tax positions taken or expected to be taken on a tax return. The tax 
effects from an uncertain tax position can be recognized in the financial statements only if, based on its merits, the position is more likely than 
not to be sustained on audit by the taxing authorities. Interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions, if any, are recorded as part of 
other expenses. Management believes that all tax positions taken to date are highly certain and, accordingly, no provision has been made to 
the consolidated financial statements. The Company is subject to California and other state income tax in all states in which it operates. In 
addition to 2020, the federal income tax returns for the years ended December 31, 2017 through 2019 are open to audit by the federal 
authorities, and the California and other state tax returns for the years ended December 31, 2016 through 2019 are open to audit by state 
authorities. The Company files consolidated U.S. federal and state income tax returns with its Parent Company.
 
Concentration of credit risk: Concentration of credit risk with respect to finance receivables is limited due to the large number of customers 
comprising the Company’s customer base and their dispersion among different industries and geographical areas. However, the Company is 
exposed to a concentration of credit risk inherent in providing alternative financing programs to borrowers who cannot obtain traditional bank 
financing.
 
Recently issued accounting standards: In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The core principle for 
lessee accounting covered in ASU 2016-02 is that a lessee should recognize the assets and liabilities that arise from leases. The main 
resulting change in this update will require lessees to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for those leases 
classified as operating leases under previous GAAP. Lessor accounting will remain largely unchanged from previous GAAP. See ASUs 2019-
10 and 2020-05 below. In July 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-11, Leases (Topic 842): Targeted Improvements, which provide entities with 
an additional (and optional) transition method to adopt the new leases standard. Under this new method, an entity initially applies the new 
leases standard at the adoption date and recognizes a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period 
of adoption. Consequently, an entity’s reporting for the comparative periods presented in the financial statements in which it adopts the new 
leases standard will continue to be in accordance with current GAAP (Topic 840, Leases). 
 
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial 
Instruments. The amendments in this update require a financial asset (or a group of financial assets) measured at amortized cost basis to be 
presented at the net amount expected to be collected. The allowance for credit losses is a valuation account that is deducted from the 
amortized cost basis of the financial asset(s) to present the net carrying value at the amount expected to be collected on the financial asset. 
Amendments in this update were effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, and interim periods within fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2021 for nonpublic entities (See ASU 2019-10 below).
 
Note 1. Nature of Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
In November 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-11, Codification Improvements to Topic 326, to address issues raised by stakeholders during 
the implementation of ASU 2016-13. ASU 2019-11 clarifies the treatment of expected recoveries for amounts previously written off on 
purchased receivables, among other items.
 

11



United PanAm Financial Corp. and Subsidiaries
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
 
In November 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-10, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326), and Leases (Topic 842): Effective 
Dates, which delays the effective dates of ASU 2016-13 and 2016-02 for certain entities. With the delay in the effective dates of ASU 2016-
13 and 2016-02 resulting from ASU 2019-10, ASU 2016-13 is effective for the Company for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, 
and ASU 2016-02 is effective for the Company for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. In May 2020, the FASB issued ASU 
2020-05, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) and Leases (Topic 842): Effective Dates for Certain Entities, which further 
delays the effective date of ASU 2016-02 for the Company for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. The Company is currently 
evaluating the effects of these ASUs on its consolidated financial statements and disclosures.
 
In November 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-09, Leases (Topic 842): Discount Rate for Lessees That Are Not Public Business Entities, 
which allows the election of the risk-free rate by class of underlying asset, rather than at the entity-wide level. An entity that makes the risk-
free rate election is required to disclose which asset classes it has elected to apply a risk-free rate. The lessee is required to use the implicit 
rate when is readily determinable in the lease, rather than a risk-free rate or an incremental borrowing rate.
 
Other accounting pronouncements issued but not yet effective are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial 
condition, liquidity or results of operations.
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Note 2. Finance Receivables and Allowance for Finance Receivable Losses
The Company’s typical borrower has a credit history that may fail to meet the lending standards of most banks, credit unions and captive 
automobile finance companies. Substantially all of the Company’s automobile contracts involve finance receivables made to individuals with 
limited or impaired credit histories. The Company believes that its borrower credit profile is similar to that of its direct competitors in the 
subprime automobile finance business. The Company also believes that the underwriting criteria and risk management system, coupled with 
close senior management supervision, enhances its risk management and collection functions.
 
In deciding whether to acquire a particular contract, the Company considers various factors, including:
 

• The applicant’s length of residence
• The applicant’s current and prior job status 
• The applicant’s history in making other installment finance receivable payments 
• The applicant’s payment record on previous automobile finance receivables 
• The applicant’s current income and discretionary spending ability 
• The applicant’s credit history 
• The value of the automobile in relation to the purchase price 
• The term of the contract 
• The automobile make and mileage 
• The Company’s prior experience with contracts acquired from the dealer

 
Borrowers under the contracts typically make down payments, in the form of cash or trade-in, ranging from 6 percent to 30 percent of the 
sale price of the vehicle financed. The balance of the purchase price of the vehicle plus taxes, title fees and, if applicable, premiums are 
generally financed over a period of 24 to 66 months.
 
Finance receivables are summarized as follows at September 30, 2021 (dollars in thousands):
 
  2021  
Finance receivables:    

Finance receivables  $ 606,555  
Unearned acquisition discounts   (59,414 )
Allowance for finance receivable losses   (54,228 )
Deferred acquisition costs   6,186  

Total finance receivables, net  $ 499,099  
    
Allowance for finance receivable losses to gross finance receivables,    

net of unearned acquisition discounts   9.9 %
Unearned acquisition discounts to gross finance receivables   9.8 %
 
Note 2. Finance Receivables and Allowance for Finance Receivable Losses (Continued)
The activity in the unearned acquisition discounts consists of the following as of and for the year-to-date ended September 30, 2021 (dollars 
in thousands):
 
  2021  
    
Unearned acquisition discounts, January 1, 2021  $ 49,627  

Acquisition of new finance receivables   47,553  
Amortization of unearned acquisition discounts   (33,280 )
Charge-offs   (4,486 )

Unearned acquisition discounts, September 30, 2021  $ 59,414  
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Unearned acquisition discounts include discounts of consolidated VIEs of $45.4 million at September 30, 2021.
 
The activity in the allowance for finance receivable losses consists of the following as of and for the year-to-date ended September 30 
(dollars in thousands):
 

  2021  
    

Allowance for finance receivable losses, January 1, 2021  $ 45,360  
Provision for finance receivable losses   32,591  
Net charge-offs   (23,723 )

Allowance for finance receivable losses, September 30, 2021  $ 54,228  
 
Allowance for finance receivable losses includes allowance of consolidated VIEs of $46.0 million at September 30, 2021.
 
The Company records the direct costs incurred in the repossession process as a component of the charge-off of the related finance 
receivable. During the nine months ended September 30, 2021, the total amount of such repossession expenses included with charge-offs in 
the table above totaled $3.1 million.
 
Nonaccrual finance receivables represent the aggregate amount of finance receivables over 90 days delinquent. Total finance receivables on 
nonaccrual were $7.4 million at September 30, 2021. Total foregone interest related to nonaccrual finance receivables was $0.5 million for 
the nine months ended September 30, 2021. It is not practical to compute the amount of interest earned on impaired finance receivables. 
 
Note 2. Finance Receivables and Allowance for Finance Receivable Losses (Continued)
The following is an assessment of the credit quality of the finance receivables as of September 30 (dollars in thousands):
 
   2021  
   Amount  Percent  
       
Finance receivables, gross   $ 606,555    
       
Delinquencies:       

31 to 60 days   $ 33,583   5.5 %
61 to 90 days    12,978   2.1 %
More than 90 days    7,080   1.2 %

Total delinquencies   $ 53,641   8.8 %
 
The Company’s finance receivables associated with customers in bankruptcy include $3.7 million at September 30, 2021.
 
Allowance for finance receivable losses is based on the credit risk and actual performance of individual static pools, which includes impaired 
finance receivables. As such, there is no specific allowance for impaired finance receivables.
 
While the ultimate magnitude and duration of the impact from COVID-19 on the Company’s business remains uncertain, it may negatively 
affect the Company’s business and financial condition. However, the Company did continue to experience strong cash collections and 
experienced positive trending on net charge-off balances.
 
The length and scope of the restrictions imposed by various governments, success of efforts to find and implement suitable vaccines, and 
scope and duration of special government benefits to the unemployed, 
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among other factors, will determine the ultimate severity of the COVID-19 impact on the Company’s business. It is likely that prolonged 
periods of difficult market conditions could have an adverse impact on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and 
cash flows. However, the Company is unable to accurately predict the overall impact at this time.
 
 
Note 3. Premises and Equipment
Premises and equipment are as follows at September 30 (dollars in thousands):
 
  2021  
    
Furniture and equipment  $ 19,978  
Leasehold improvements   2,166  
   22,144  
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization   (17,813 )

Total premises and equipment, net  $ 4,331  
 
Depreciation and amortization expense included in occupancy expense in the consolidated statement of operations was $1.2 million for the 
nine months ended September 30, 2021. 
 
Note 3. Premises and Equipment (Continued)
 
Additionally, $0.3 million of expenses related to internally developed software were capitalized in the nine months ended September 30, 
2021. Construction-in-progress included in furniture and equipment was $50 thousand at September 30, 2021.
 
Note 4. Other Assets
Other assets consist of the following at September 30 (dollars in thousands):
 
  2021  
    
Prepaid expenses  $ 2,152  
Other receivable   383  
Security deposits   34  
Repossessed assets   3,140  
Other   310  

Total other assets  $ 6,019  
 
 
Note 5. Notes Payable of Consolidated VIEs
The Company’s subsidiary, UACC, has three senior secured warehouse facility agreements (the First Facility, Second Facility and Third 
Facility) with banking institutions. 
 
The First Facility dated May 30, 2012, as amended, is with a bank that provides for an aggregate borrowing limit of $150 million as of 
September 30, 2021. As of September 30, 2021, the First Facility bears interest at LIBOR plus a margin of interest of 1.75 percent. Interest is 
payable monthly. The First Facility is collateralized by eligible finance receivables. Available borrowings are computed based on a 
percentage of eligible finance receivables. There were $56.5 million of eligible finance receivables pledged to this facility as of September 30, 
2021. There was an outstanding balance of $31.4 million at September 30, 2021. There were unamortized debt issuance costs of $0.3 million 
related to the First Facility at September 30, 2021. There was restricted cash of $2.3 million related to this facility at September 30, 2021. The 
First Facility matures on October 20, 2023 and is subject to certain financial and other covenants that restrict certain operating activities and 
require certain reporting activities by the Company.
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The Second Facility dated November 19, 2013, as amended, is with a bank that provides for an aggregate borrowing limit of $100 million as 
of September 30, 2021. As of September 30, 2021, the Second Facility bears interest at LIBOR plus a margin of interest of 1.60 percent. 
Interest is payable monthly. The Second Facility is collateralized by eligible finance receivables. Available borrowings are computed based on 
a percentage of eligible finance receivables. There were $50.4 million of eligible finance receivables pledged to this facility as of September 
30, 2021. There was an outstanding balance of $37.7 million at September 30, 2021. There were unamortized debt issuance costs of $0.4 
million related to the Second Facility at September 30, 2021. There was restricted cash of $2.1 million related to this facility at September 30, 
2021. The Second Facility is also required to have a hedge cash reserve amount that is the greater of $50,000 or the quoted price for an 
interest rate cap with a cap rate of 5 percent. Currently, the hedge reserve restricted cash account is $50,000. The Second Facility matures 
on May 19, 2023 and is subject to certain financial and other covenants that restrict certain operating activities and require certain reporting 
activities by the Company.
 
The Third Facility dated July 11, 2019, as amended, is with a bank that provides for an aggregate borrowing limit of $100 million as of 
September 30, 2021. As of September 30, 2021, the Third Facility bears interest at LIBOR plus a margin of interest of 1.75 percent. Interest 
is payable monthly. The Third Facility is collateralized by eligible finance receivables. Available borrowings  are computed  based  on a 
percentage of eligible finance receivables. There were $27.8 million of eligible finance receivables pledged to this facility as of September 30, 
2021. There was an outstanding balance of $21.8 million at September 30, 2021. There were unamortized debt issuance costs of $0.4 million 
related to the Third Facility at September 30, 2021. There was restricted cash of $1.3 million related to this facility at September 30, 2021. 
The Third Facility matures on March 29, 2023 and is subject to certain financial and other covenants that restrict certain operating activities 
and require certain reporting activities by the Company.
 
Note 6. Securitization Debt of Consolidated VIEs 
The securitization debt is structured as on-balance-sheet transactions and recorded as secured financings. The debt was issued through 
wholly owned bankruptcy remote subsidiaries of UACC and is secured by the assets of such subsidiaries, but not by other assets of the 
Company. 
 
The use of these securitizations is an integral part of the Company’s business plan in order to increase the liquidity and reduce risks 
associated with interest rate fluctuations. The Company has developed a securitization program that involves selling interests in pools of the 
automobile contracts to investors through the private issuance of Money Market/AAA/AA/A/BBB/BB/B-rated asset-backed securities to 
qualified institutional investors. The Company retains the servicing rights for the finance receivables that have been securitized; therefore, the 
Company is responsible for the administration and collection of the contracts. The securitization agreements also require certain funds to be 
held in restricted cash accounts to provide additional collateral for the borrowings or to be applied to make payments on the securitization 
debt. Restricted cash under the various agreements totaled approximately $35.5 million at September 30, 2021. Interest expense on the 
securitization debt is composed of the stated rate of interest plus amortization of additional costs of borrowing. Additional costs of borrowing 
include facility fees, insurance premiums, amortization of transaction costs and amortization of discounts required on the notes at the time of 
issuance. Debt issuance costs related to the securitization debt are amortized using a method that approximates the effective interest rate 
method. There were $1.8 million unamortized debt issuance costs related to the securitization debt at September 30, 2021. Accordingly, the 
effective cost of borrowing of the securitization debt is greater than the stated rate of interest. 
 
Upon the issuance of securitization debt, the Company retains the right to receive over time excess cash flows from the underlying pool of 
securitized automobile contracts. In the Company’s securitizations to date, it has transferred automobile contracts the Company purchased 
from automobile dealers to a newly formed owner trust for each transaction. The trust then issued the securitization debt. The net proceeds 
of the Company’s securitizations are first used to pay off certain borrowings under warehouse facilities and the remaining net proceeds are 
used to fund the Company’s operations. 
 
The wholly owned bankruptcy remote subsidiaries of UACC were formed to facilitate the above asset- backed financing transactions. 
Bankruptcy remote refers to a legal structure in which it is expected that the 
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applicable entity would not be included in any bankruptcy filing by its parent or affiliates. All of the assets of these subsidiaries have been 
pledged as collateral for the related debt.  All  such  transactions,  treated  as secured financings for accounting and tax purposes, are 
treated as sales for all other purposes, including legal and bankruptcy purposes. None of the assets of these subsidiaries are available to pay 
other creditors of the Company or its affiliates.
 
Note 6. Securitization Debt of Consolidated VIEs (Continued)
 
The Company has completed several term securitizations that have been structured as secured financings for financial reporting purposes. 
The remaining securitized transactions outstanding are noted below. The debt issued is included in securitization debt on the consolidated 
balance sheet at September 30, 2021 and comprises the following components (dollars in thousands):
 
Aggregate principal balance of finance receivables securing the securitization debt at September 30,
 
  2021  
    
United Auto Credit 2019-1  $ 59,174  
United Auto Credit 2020-1   118,551  
United Auto Credit 2021-1   197,194  
  $ 374,919  
 
 

     Contractual  Outstanding  
     Interest Rate at  Principal at  
 Initial Date of Final Scheduled Initial  September 30,  September 30,  

Series Securitization Payment Date * Principal  2021  2021  
         
United Auto Credit 2019-1-D May 22, 2019 August 12, 2024 $ 39,840   3.47 % $ 20,851  
United Auto Credit 2019-1-E May 22, 2019 August 12, 2024  21,920   4.29 %  21,920  
United Auto Credit 2019-1-F May 22, 2019 January 12, 2026  14,860   6.05 %  14,860  
United Auto Credit 2020-1-B June 30, 2020 November 10, 2022  32,780   1.47 %  12,662  
United Auto Credit 2020-1-C June 30, 2020 February 10, 2025  32,780   2.15 %  32,780  
United Auto Credit 2020-1-D June 30, 2020 February 10, 2025  31,450   2.88 %  31,450  
United Auto Credit 2020-1-E June 30, 2020 February 10, 2025  18,730   5.19 %  18,730  
United Auto Credit 2020-1-F June 30, 2020 January 12, 2026  7,360   9.08 %  7,360  
United Auto Credit 2021-1-A March 11, 2021 July 10, 2023  122,070   0.34 %  59,298  
United Auto Credit 2021-1-B March 11, 2021 March 11, 2024  33,540   0.68 %  33,540  
United Auto Credit 2021-1-C March 11, 2021 June 10, 2026  29,640   0.84 %  29,640  
United Auto Credit 2021-1-D March 11, 2021 June 10, 2026  29,380   1.14 %  29,380  
United Auto Credit 2021-1-E March 11, 2021 June 10, 2026  20,800   2.58 %  20,800  
United Auto Credit 2021-1-F March 11, 2021 September 10, 2027  13,910   4.30 %  13,910  
   $ 449,060    $ 347,181  

   Unamortized debt 
issuance costs     1,830  

   Outstanding principal, 
net    $ 345,351  

* The Final Scheduled Payment Date represents final legal maturity of the securitization debt. Securitization debt is expected to become due and to be paid prior to those dates, 
based on amortization of the finance receivables pledged to the Trusts. Expected payments, which will depend on the performance of such receivables, as to which there can be 
no assurance, are $55.0 million in Q4 2021, $178.5 million in 2022, $78.4 million in 2023, $28.2 million in 2024 and $7.1 million in 2025 .
 
Note 7. Senior Loan 
The senior loan agreement dated June 22, 2017, as amended, is with related parties and management that provide for an aggregate 
borrowing limit of $15 million. The senior loan bears interest at 15% per annum. Interest is paid monthly on the last day of the month. The 
senior loan was collateralized by pledged shares of the Company and was repaid in February 2021 without premium or penalty. 
 
Note 8. Junior Subordinated Debentures
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On July 31, 2003, the Company issued junior subordinated debentures (trust preferred securities) of $10 million through a subsidiary, UPFC 
Trust I. The trust issuer is a 100 percent owned finance subsidiary and the Company fully and unconditionally guaranteed the securities. 
Interest on these funds accrues at a rate equal to the three-month LIBOR plus 3.05 percent, variable quarterly. The final maturity of these 
securities is on October 7, 2033; however, they can be called at par any time at the Company’s discretion.
 
Note 9. Dividends
The Company has not declared or paid any cash dividends on its common stock since inception. The payment of any future dividends will be 
at the discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors and will depend upon, among other things, future earnings, operations, capital 
requirements and its general financial conditions, general business conditions and contractual restrictions on payment of dividends, if any. 
The Company’s ability to pay dividends on its common stock is also subject to the restrictions of the California Corporations Code.
 
Note 10. Income Taxes
The Company records its tax provision on an interim basis in accordance with ASC 740, Income taxes, which requires the Company to 
estimate the effective tax rate expected to apply for the entire year. This effective rate is then applied to the Company’s income before tax to 
arrive at the estimated provision for the interim period. As a result of the manner in which the interim period income tax provision is 
estimated, there is no change to the December 31, 2020 deferred taxes as the provision is recorded through an adjustment to the income tax 
liability.
 
 
The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant items comprising the Company’s net deferred taxes as of September 30, 
2021 include the allowance for finance receivable losses, finance receivables and net operating loss carryforwards.
 
Income tax expense attributable to pretax income differed from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal income tax rate of 21 
percent at September 30, 2021 to pretax income from continuing operations as a result of the following for the nine months ended September 
30:
 
  2021  
    
Expected statutory rate   21.0 %
State taxes, net of federal benefits   5.4 %
Permanent differences   0.1 %
Tax credits   (4.1 %)
Other, net   3.1 %

Effective tax rate   25.5 %
 
 
Note 11. Commitments and Contingencies
All three office locations, including headquarters, are leased under noncancelable operating leases expiring at various dates through 2024. A 
majority of the leases provide that the Company pay all property taxes, insurance and maintenance, which are excluded from the future 
minimum rental payments below. 
 
The total rental expense included in the consolidated statements of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 is $1.0 
million. Future minimum rental payments under existing noncancelable leases are set forth as follows (dollars in thousands):
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Years Ending December 31, except as 
of September 30, 2021   Amount  

     
2021   $ 245  
2022    996  
2023    673  
2024    188  
              Total   $ 2,102  
The Company is involved in various claims or legal actions arising in the normal course of business. In the opinion of management, the 
ultimate disposition of such matters will not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, cash flows or results of 
operations.
 
Note 12. Stock-Based Compensation
In December 2011, the Company’s parent and 100 percent shareholder (Parent Company), approved a management compensation incentive 
plan (the 2011 Plan). The 2011 Plan gave the Parent Company’s Board of Directors the authority to grant stock options. The maximum 
number of shares that may be issued to officers, directors, employees or consultants under the 2011 Plan is 9,670, as adjusted in 2015. In 
conjunction with the 2014 and 2015 share repurchases and as allowed under the 2011 Plan, the Parent Company adjusted the maximum 
number of shares available under the 2011 Plan and the number of awards each participant was granted. As such, in 2015 the maximum 
number of shares under the 2011 Plan decreased from 10,949 to 9,670. The Company determined that there was no incremental cost to be 
recorded as a result of the modification. The options under the 2011 Plan generally vest over a one- to five-year period and have a maximum 
contractual term of 10 years subject to market and performance conditions, as defined. As of September 30, 2021, 2,767 unallocated options 
were available to be granted under the 2011 Plan. However, in the event of a liquidity transaction or change in control, any options not 
granted or allocated are required to be distributed to existing participants of the 2011 Plan at the direction of the Board of Directors.
 
On December 29, 2011, the Parent Company granted or allocated employees of the Company options under this plan. The grants were 
separated in three separate tranches for each employee. Each tranche defines its own service, performance and/or market conditions. 
Performance conditions for one of the tranches (Tranche 3) are based upon an individual’s annual performance goals as proposed by the 
chief executive officer and approved by the Parent Company’s Compensation Committee and Board of Directors. Since the performance 
goals are set annually, awards allocated in this tranche are not considered granted under the provisions of ASC 718, Compensation, until the 
participant and the Parent Company mutually agree on the terms of the performance goals (performed annually). The Company has 
allocated awards in this tranche to specific employees. As of September 30, 2021, all such awards have been granted. Market conditions are 
based upon an internal rate of return achieved by the Investors (as defined in the 2011 Plan) based upon their original investment on the date 
of the February 2011 merger.
 
Note 12.     Stock-Based Compensation (Continued)
 
In 2012 the Parent Company elected to use the equity value method of accounting for stock-based compensation. As such, the Company 
estimated the fair value of the awards using the Black-Scholes Option Valuation Model, which uses the assumptions noted below, and 
recorded the incremental cost, which represented the compensation expense recorded under the equity method and modified expense. For 
the awards prior to 2013, the risk-free interest rate assumption in the Black- Scholes model has been adjusted downward for the annual fixed 
increase in exercise price of 10 percent, where necessary.
 
There was no stock compensation expense related to the 2011 Plan for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 as all options were fully 
vested prior to January 1, 2019.
 
 
A summary of option activity under the Plan is presented below:
 

19



United PanAm Financial Corp. and Subsidiaries
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
 
   Nine Months Ended  
   September 30,2021  
     Weighted-  
     Average  
     Exercise  
   Shares  Price *  
       
Balance at beginning of year    6,903  $ 730  

Canceled or expired    -   -  
Balance at end of year    6,903   730  
       
       
* The weighted-average exercise price doesn't account for 10% accretion.  
 
A summary of options by tranche, all of which are vested as of September 30 is presented below:
 
  2021  
    
Subject to service conditions–Tranche 1   2,301  
Subject to market and service conditions–Tranche 2   2,390  
Subject to performance and service conditions–Tranche 3   2,212  
   6,903  
 
 
If a liquidity event or change of control was probable at September 30, 2021, the Company would expect all of the shares under the Plan to 
become granted and fully vested. The following table displays a summary of options vested by tranche under the 2011 Plan as of September 
30 in the event a liquidity event or change of control was probable:
 
  2021  
    
Subject to service conditions–Tranche 1   3,223  
Subject to market and service conditions–Tranche 2   4,235  
Subject to performance and service conditions–Tranche 3   2,212  
   9,670  
 
Note 13. Employee Benefit Plans
The Company maintains a 401(k) profit sharing plan (the 401(k) Plan) for the benefit of all eligible employees. The Company will match, at its 
discretion, 50 percent of the amount contributed by the employee up to a maximum of 6 percent of the employee’s total compensation. The 
estimated contribution recorded by the Company for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 was $0.5 million.
 
The Company has one nonqualified  defined benefit salary continuation agreement with the Company’s chairman of the Board of Directors. 
In connection with the salary continuation plan, the Company has purchased life insurance policies that are written with different carriers. The 
Company is the designated beneficiary of the policies. The  cash  surrender  value  of  the  policies  is  $1.3  million at September 30, 2021. 
The chairman will be entitled to payments totaling $100 thousand per year for 15 years upon retirement. Compensation expense was fully 
accrued based on the present value of future benefits over the service period of the chairman using a discount rate of 8 percent. Accrued 
compensation payable related to the plan was approximately $905 thousand at September 30, 2021.
 
 
Note 14. Disclosures About Fair Value
The Company uses fair value accounting to report repossessed assets. Additional fair value disclosures are required and are included in the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements. For the nine months 
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ended September 30, 2021, the application of valuation techniques applied to similar assets and liabilities has been consistent. The following 
is a description of the valuation methodologies used for instruments measured and/or disclosed at fair value:
 
Fair value on a recurring basis: There were no assets or liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of or during the nine 
months ended September 30, 2021.
 
Fair value on a nonrecurring basis: Certain assets and liabilities are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis; that is, the 
instruments are not measured at fair value on an ongoing basis but are subject to fair value adjustments in certain circumstances (for 
example, when there is evidence of impairment). The table below present the balance of assets, measured and presented in the 
consolidated balance sheet at September 30, at fair value on a nonrecurring basis (dollars in thousands):
 

 2021  
 Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  
         
Repossessed assets $ 3,383  $ -  $ 3,383  $ -  
 
The fair value of repossessed assets was determined based on comparable recent sales and adjusted for various factors, including age of 
the vehicle and known changes in the market and in the collateral. 
 
In determining the appropriate application of the levels of the valuation hierarchy, the Company performs a detailed analysis of the assets 
and liabilities. At each reporting period, all assets and liabilities for which the fair value is based on significant unobservable inputs are 
classified as Level 3.
 
Note 14.     Disclosures About Fair Value (Continued)
 
Below is a description of the valuation methods for the assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on either a recurring or nonrecurring basis 
and for estimating fair value of financial instruments not recorded at fair value for disclosure purposes. While management believes the 
valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to 
determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different estimate of fair value at the measurement date.
 
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash: Cash and restricted cash are recorded at historical cost. The carrying amount is a 
reasonable estimate of fair value as these instruments have short-term maturities and interest rates that approximate market, a Level 1 
measurement.
 
Finance receivables: Finance receivables are recorded at their outstanding principal balance, net of purchase discounts, deferred loan 
origination fees/costs, and allowance for finance receivable losses. The Company determined the fair value estimate of finance receivables 
using unobservable inputs including discount rates, prepayment speeds, loss severity, and default rates. 
 
Notes payable of consolidated VIE’s, securitization debt of consolidated VIE’s, senior loan from related parties and junior 
subordinated debentures (Collectively referred to as Corporate Debt): The Company determined the fair values estimate of its 
Corporate debt using the estimated cash flows discounted at an appropriate market rate, a Level 3 measurement.
 
Accrued interest receivable and accrued interest payable: The carrying amounts of accrued interest receivable and accrued interest 
payable approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments, a Level 1 measurement.
 
A financial instrument is cash, evidence of an ownership interest in an entity, or a contract that creates a contractual obligation or right to 
deliver or receive cash or another financial instrument from a second entity on potentially favorable terms. The methods and assumptions 
used in estimating the fair values of the Company’s financial instruments are described above.
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The following tables present carrying amounts and estimated fair values of certain financial instruments as of the dates indicated (in 
thousands):
 
 September 30, 2021  

Asset category
Carrying

Value  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  
Estimated
Fair Value  

           
Assets:           
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,801  $ 2,801  $ -  $ -  $ 2,801  
Restricted Cash  41,267   41,267       41,267  
Finance receivables, net  499,099       550,812   550,812  
Accrued interest receivable  8,392   8,392       8,392  
           
           
Liabilities:           

Notes payable of consolidated VIE's $ 89,843  $ -  $ -  $ 89,843  $ 89,843  
Securitization debt of consolidated VIE's  345,351       345,351   345,351  
Junior subordinated debentures  10,310       10,310   10,310  
Accrued interest payable  690   690       690  

 
Note 15. Subsequent Events
On October 12, 2021, the Company announced that it has entered into a definitive agreement to merge with Vroom, Inc. The transaction is 
expected to close either late in the fourth quarter of 2021 or early in the first quarter of 2022, subject to receipt of required regulatory 
approvals and satisfaction of customary closing conditions. The Company has evaluated subsequent events through November 19, 2021, the 
date on which the consolidated financial statements were available to be issued. 
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Exhibit 99.3

 
VROOM, INC.

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 

On February 1, 2022, Vroom, Inc. (the “Company”) completed the acquisition of Unitas Holdings Corp. ("UHC"), now known as 
Vroom Finance Corporation, a Delaware corporation, including its wholly owned subsidiaries United Auto Credit Corporation ("UACC") and 
United PanAm Financial Corp. ("UPFC"), the direct parent of United Auto Credit Corporation and now known as Vroom Automotive Financial 
Corporation (the "Acquisition"). Unitas Holdings Corp., United PanAm Financial Corp. and United Auto Credit Corporation, as well as their 
other subsidiaries, are now wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company.
 

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information has been prepared in accordance with Article 11 of 
Regulation S-X and adjusted to give effect to the Acquisition. The unaudited pro forma combined financial information combines the 
Company’s financial statements with UPFC’s financial statements. There were no material differences between UPFC and UHC as the 
stand-alone financial statements of UHC are not material. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information is derived from 
the historical consolidated financial statements of the Company and UPFC. These financial statements have been adjusted as described in 
the notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.

 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and for 

the year ended December 31, 2020 give effect to the Acquisition as if it had occurred on January 1, 2020. The unaudited pro forma 
condensed combined statement of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 combines the unaudited historical condensed 
consolidated statements of operations of the Company and UPFC. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations 
for the year ended December 31, 2020 combines the audited historical consolidated statements of operations of the Company and UPFC. 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of September 30, 2021, combines the unaudited historical condensed 
consolidated balance sheets of the Company and UPFC and has been prepared assuming the Acquisition closed on September 30, 2021.

 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information is provided for informational purposes only and does not 

purport to represent the Company’s actual financial condition or results of operations had the Acquisition occurred on the dates indicated nor 
does it project the Company’s results of operations or financial condition for any future period or date. The Company has prepared the 
unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information based on available information using certain assumptions that it believes are 
reasonable.  As a result, the actual results reported by the combined company in periods following the Acquisition may differ significantly 
from this unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial 
information does not reflect any cost savings, or operating synergies resulting from the Acquisition or the cost necessary to achieve cost 
savings, or operating synergies or other costs relating to the integration of the two companies. 

 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information was based on, and should be read in conjunction with:

 
• the accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information;

 
• the separate unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes of the Company as of and for 

the nine months ended September 30, 2021, as contained in the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the nine months 
ended September 30, 2021, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”) on November 9, 2021;
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• the separate consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes of the Company as of, and for the year ended, 

December 31, 2020, as contained in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, filed with 
the Commission on March 3, 2021;

 
• the separate unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes of UPFC as of, and for the nine 

months ended, September 30, 2021, which are included elsewhere in this Current Report on Form 8-K; and
 

• the separate consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes of UPFC as of, and for the year ended, December 31, 
2020, which are included elsewhere in this Current Report on Form 8-K
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Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet 

(in thousands)
 
  As of September 30, 2021  

  
Vroom Inc, 
Historical   

UPFC
Historical   

Reclassifications
 [Note 3]   

Transaction 
Accounting 

Adjustments 
[Note 4]   

Pro Forma
Combined  

ASSETS                
Current Assets:                
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 1,326,543   $ 2,801   $ -   $ (315,686 ) (1) $ 1,013,658  
Restricted cash   69,574    41,267    -    -    110,841  
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $4.9 million   89,900    -    -    -    89,900  
Finance receivables, net (including finance receivables of consolidated 
VIEs of $423.6 million)  -    499,099    (499,099 ) (a),(b)  -    -  
Finance receivables at fair value (including accrued interest of $5.4 million 
and finance receivables of consolidated VIEs of $55.6 million)  -    -    61,788  (a)  (5,718 ) (2)  61,485  
         5,415  (c)      
Finance receivables held for sale, net (including accrued interest of  
$3.0 million and finance receivables of consolidated VIEs of $100.8 
million)   -    -    157,016  (b)  24,288  (2)  184,281  
         2,977  (c)      
Interest receivable   -    8,392    (8,392 ) (c)  -    -  
Inventory   601,753    -    -    -    601,753  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   62,390    -    -    -    62,390  
Total current assets   2,150,160    551,559    (280,295 )   (297,116 )   2,124,308  
Finance receivables at fair value (including finance receivables of 
consolidated VIEs of $290.0 million)  -    -    280,295  (a)  15,495  (2)  295,790  
Property and equipment, net   30,559    4,331    -    -    34,890  
Intangible assets, net   29,762    -    -    156,000  (3)  185,762  
Goodwill   158,817    -    -    78,583  (4)  237,400  
Operating lease right-of-use assets   16,994    -    -    -    16,994  
Other assets   23,251    23,243    -    (56,350 ) (10)  30,918  
            40,774  (11)   
Total assets  $ 2,409,543   $ 579,133   $ -   $ (62,614 )  $ 2,926,062  
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY                
Current Liabilities:                
Accounts payable   59,522    -    -    -    59,522  
Accrued expenses   104,694    -    -    -    104,694  
Vehicle floorplan   441,473    -    -    -    441,473  
Deferred revenue   64,087    -    -    -    64,087  
Operating lease liabilities, current   6,872    -    -    -    6,872  
Notes payable of consolidated VIEs   -    89,843    -    -    89,843  
Securitization debt of consolidated VIEs   -    -    203,680  (d)  -    203,680  
Other current liabilities   66,904    30,241    -    8,613  (5)  99,227  
            (6,531 ) (11)   
Total current liabilities   743,552    120,084    203,680    2,082    1,069,398  
Convertible senior notes   609,811    -    (609,811 ) (e)  -    -  
Long term debt   -    -    609,811  (e)  -    620,121  
         10,310  (e)      
Securitization debt of consolidated VIEs   -    345,351    (203,680 ) (d)  -    141,671  
Junior subordinated debentures   -    10,310    (10,310 ) (e)  -    -  
Operating lease liabilities, excluding current portion   11,325    -    -    -    11,325  
Other long-term liabilities   4,204    -    -       4,204  
Total liabilities   1,368,892    475,745    -    2,082    1,846,719  
Commitments  and contingencies (Note 10)                
Stockholders’ equity:                
Common stock, $ 0.001  par value;  500,000,000  shares authorized 
as of September 30, 2021; 136,897,954 shares issued and 
outstanding as of September 30, 2021   135    -    -    -    135  
Additional paid-in-capital   2,059,505    17,985    -    (17,985 ) (12)  2,059,505  
Accumulated deficit   (1,018,989 )   85,403    -    (85,403 ) (12)  (980,297 )
            47,305  (11)   
            (8,613 ) (5)   
Total stockholders’ equity   1,040,651    103,388    -    (64,696 )   1,079,343  
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 2,409,543   $ 579,133   $ -   $ (62,614 )  $ 2,926,062  
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Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations

 (in thousands, except per share amounts)
 

  Nine Months Ended September 30, 2021  

  
Vroom Inc, 
Historical   

UPFC
Historical   

Reclassifications
 [Note 3]   

Transaction 
Accounting 

Adjustments 
[Note 4]   

Pro Forma
Combined  

Revenue:                
Interest income  $ -   $ 120,379   $ (120,379 )  (f) $ -   $ -  
Retail vehicle, net   1,798,155    -    -    -    1,798,155  
Wholesale vehicle   377,438    -    -    -    377,438  
Product, net   64,422    -    -    -    64,422  
Finance   -    -    120,379   (f)  3,640  (6)  126,527  
      -    2,508   (g)  -     
Other   9,749    -    1,199   (h)  -    10,948  
Total revenue   2,249,764    120,379    3,707    3,640    2,377,490  
Cost of sales:                
Interest expense   -    11,534    (8,852 )  (i)  -    -  
         (2,682 )  (j)      
Provision for finance receivable losses   -    32,591    (4,222 )  (k)  (28,369 ) (7)  -  
Retail vehicle   1,720,975    -    -    -    1,720,975  
Wholesale vehicle   367,101    -    -    -    367,101  
Finance   -    -    4,222   (k)  -    13,074  
   -    -    8,852   (i)      
Other   4,295    -    -    -    4,295  
Total cost of sales   2,092,371    44,125    (2,682 )   (28,369 )   2,105,445  
Total gross profit   157,393    76,254    6,389    32,009    272,045  
Noninterest expense   -    42,121    (40,898 )  (l)  -    -  
         (1,223 )  (m)      
Selling, general and administrative 
expenses   381,482    -    40,898   (l)  3,216  (8)  425,596  
Depreciation and amortization   9,276    -    1,223   (m)  15,605  (9)  26,104  
Loss from operations   (233,365 )   34,133    6,389    13,188    (179,655 )
Interest expense   14,720       2,682   (j)  -    17,402  
Interest income   (7,288 )   -    -    -    (7,288 )
Noninterest income   -    (3,707 )   3,707  (g),(h)  -    -  
Other income, net   (58 )   -    -    -    (58 )
Loss before provision for income taxes   (240,739 )   37,840    -    13,188    (189,711 )
Provision for income taxes   379    9,649    -    (6,531 ) (11)  3,497  
Net loss  $ (241,118 )  $ 28,191   $ -   $ 19,719   $ (193,208 )
Net loss per share attributable to 
common stockholders, basic and diluted  $ (1.77 )  $ -   $ -   $ -   $ (1.42 )
Weighted-average number of shares 
outstanding used to compute net loss 
per share attributable to common 
stockholders, basic and diluted   136,256,901    -    -    -    136,256,901  
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Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Statement of Operations

 (in thousands, except per share amounts)
 

  Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2020  

  
Vroom Inc, 
Historical   

UPFC
Historical   

Reclassifications
 [Note 3]   

Transaction 
Accounting 

Adjustments 
[Note 4]   

Pro Forma
Combined  

Revenue:                
Interest income  $ -   $ 160,458   $ (160,458 )  (f) $ -   $ -  
Retail vehicle, net   1,072,551    -    -    -    1,072,551  
Wholesale vehicle   245,580    -    -    -    245,580  
Product, net   38,195    -    -    -    38,195  
Finance   -    -    160,458   (f)  5,424  (6)  170,138  
         4,256   (g)  -     
Other   1,374    -    1,916   (h)  -    3,290  
Total revenue   1,357,700    160,458    6,172    5,424    1,529,754  
Cost of sales:                
Interest expense   -    20,421    (14,016 )  (i)  -    -  
         (6,405 )  (j)      
Provision for finance receivables   -    80,173    (7,043 )  (k)  (73,130 ) (7)  -  
Retail vehicle   1,038,208    -    -    -    1,038,208  
Wholesale vehicle   247,012    -    -    -    247,012  
Finance   -    -    7,043   (k)  -    21,059  
         14,016   (i)      
Other   935    -    -    -    935  
Total cost of sales   1,286,155    100,594    (6,405 )   (73,130 )   1,307,214  
Total gross profit   71,545    59,864    12,577    78,554    222,540  
Noninterest expense   -    49,704    (48,337 )  (l)  -    -  
         (1,367 )  (m)      
Selling, general and administrative 
expenses   245,546    -    48,337   (l)  8,613  (5)  305,620  
            3,124  (8)   
Depreciation and amortization   4,598    -    1,367   (m)  20,807  (9)  26,772  
Loss from operations   (178,599 )   10,160    12,577   (j)  46,010    (109,852 )
Interest expense   9,656    -    6,405   (j)  -    16,061  
Interest income   (5,896 )   -    -    -    (5,896 )
Noninterest income   -    (6,172 )   6,172  (g),(h)  -    -  
Revaluation of preferred stock warrant   20,470    -    -    -    20,470  
Other income, net   (114 )   -    -    -    (114 )
Loss before provision for income taxes   (202,715 )   16,332    -    46,010    (140,373 )
Provision for income taxes   84    3,707    -    (40,672 ) (11)  (36,881 )
Net loss  $ (202,799 )  $ 12,625   $ -   $ 86,682   $ (103,492 )
Net loss per share attributable to common 
stockholders, basic and diluted  $ (2.76 )  $ -   $ -   $ -   $ (1.41 )
Weighted-average number of shares 
outstanding used to compute net loss per 
share attributable to common stockholders, 
basic and diluted   73,345,569    -    -    -    73,345,569  
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1. Basis of Presentation
 

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information has been adjusted to give effect to pro forma events that are 
directly attributable to the Acquisition. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information has been prepared in accordance 
with Article 11 of Regulation S-X as amended by the final rule, Release No. 33-10786 “Amendments to Financial Disclosures about Acquired 
and Disposed Businesses." The Company has elected not to present Management’s Adjustments; only Transaction Accounting Adjustments 
are presented in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.

 
 The Acquisition was accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with Financial Accounting 

Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 805, Business Combinations (“ASC 805”) with the Company being the accounting 
acquirer. Under the acquisition method, all assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are recognized and measured 
at their assumed acquisition date fair value. The Company used its best estimates and assumptions to assign fair values to the intangible 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date using assumptions that the Company’s management believes are reasonable 
utilizing information currently available. The process for estimating the fair values of identifiable intangible assets and certain liabilities 
requires the use of significant estimates and assumptions, including estimating future cash flows and developing appropriate discount rates. 
The goodwill as of the acquisition date is measured as the excess of purchase consideration paid over the fair value of net tangible and 
identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on a preliminary allocation of the purchase price. The purchase price 
allocation is based on preliminary estimates, subject to final adjustments, and provided for informational purposes only.

 
The purchase accounting is subject to finalization of the Company’s analysis of the fair values of the assets and liabilities of UPFC 

as of the Acquisition. Accordingly, the purchase accounting in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information is 
preliminary and will be adjusted upon completion of the final valuation. Such adjustments could be material.

 
2. Preliminary Purchase Price Allocation
 

The estimated purchase consideration for the purpose of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information is 
$315.7 million, which was paid in cash. 

 
The following table summarizes allocation of the preliminary purchase price to assets acquired and liabilities assumed  based on 

the preliminary valuation (in thousands):
 
  September 30, 2021  
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 2,801  
Restricted cash   41,267  
Finance receivables, net   541,556  
Intangible assets   156,000  
Goodwill   78,583  
Other assets   11,998  
Total assets acquired   832,205  
Securitization debt of consolidated VIEs   345,351  
Notes payable of consolidated VIEs   89,843  
Deferred tax liability   40,774  
Other liabilities   40,551  
Total liabilities assumed   516,519  
Net assets acquired  $ 315,686  
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The following table summarizes the identifiable intangible assets acquired, their estimated values, and their estimated weighted 

average useful life as of the Acquisition (in thousands):
 

  September 30, 2021   Useful Life
Purchased technology  $ 83,000   7
Customer relationships   66,000   8
Trade name   7,000   10
  $ 156,000    
 

The estimated fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed were based upon preliminary analysis performed for the 
preparation of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information and are subject to the final valuations. These estimates 
and assumptions are subject to change within the measurement period as additional information is obtained. A decrease in the fair value of 
the assets acquired or liabilities assumed in the Acquisition from the preliminary valuations presented would result in a dollar-for-dollar 
corresponding increase in the amount of goodwill resulting from the Acquisition. In addition, if the value of the intangible assets is higher than 
the amount included in these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information, it may result in higher depreciation and 
amortization expense than is presented herein. Any such increases could be material and could result in the Company’s actual future 
financial condition or results of operations differing materially from that presented herein. As a result, the final purchase price allocation may 
differ materially from the preliminary purchase price allocation.

 
3. Reclassification Adjustments
 

With the information currently available, other than the changes described below with respect to the accounting for finance 
receivables, certain reclassifications and transaction accounting adjustments, the Company has determined that no other significant 
adjustments are necessary to conform UPFC’s financial statements to the accounting policies used by the Company in the preparation of the 
unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.

 
The most significant assets that the Company will acquire as a result of the Acquisition are the finance receivables which will be 

reported in new asset line items with the captions Finance receivables at fair value and Finance receivables held-for-sale, net. The unaudited 
pro forma condensed combined financial information was adjusted to reflect these changes. 

 
The Company has identified reclassification adjustments to align the presentation of the historical financial statements of UPFC to 

those of the Company based upon currently available information and assumptions management believes to be reasonable. The Company 
also plans to revise the presentation of its historical income statements to disaggregate and present the legacy UPFC operations into its own 
revenue and cost of sales line items with the captions Finance revenue and Finance cost of sales.

  
The following reclassifications were made in the “Reclassifications” column of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined 

balance sheet to conform to the Company’s corresponding presentation:
 
(a) “Finance receivables, net” of $342.1 million were reclassified to “Finance receivables at fair value to conform to the Company’s new 

presentation of finance receivables. $61.8 million of finance receivables at fair value were classified as current assets and $280.3 
million of finance receivables at fair value were classified as noncurrent assets in the unaudited proforma combined balance.

 
(b) “Finance receivables, net” of $157.0 million were reclassified to “Finance receivables held-for-sale, net” to conform to the 

Company’s new presentation of finance receivables.
 

(c) “Interest receivable” of $8.4 million was reclassified to “Finance receivables at fair value” and “Finance receivables held-for-sale, 
net” in the amounts of $5.4 million and $3.0 million, 
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respectively, to conform to the Company’s presentation of finance receivables at fair value and finance receivables.

 
(d) “Securitization debt of consolidated VIEs” of $203.7 million was reclassified to current liabilities to conform to the presentation of the 

Company’s classified balance sheet.
 

(e) “Junior subordinated debentures” of $10.3 million  and the Company’s “Convertible senior notes” of $609.8 million were reclassified 
and presented together in a single caption “Long term debt”.

 
The following reclassifications were made in the “Reclassifications” column of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined 

statements of operations to conform to the Company’s corresponding presentation:
 
(f) “Interest income” of $120.4 million and $160.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and for the year ended 

December 31, 2020, respectively, were reclassified to “Finance” revenue to conform to the presentation of the Company’s revenue.
 

(g) “Noninterest income” of $2.5 million and $4.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and for the year ended 
December 31, 2020, respectively, which primarily relate to gap and warranty insurance premiums related to policies that UACC 
sells to its existing dealership customers, were reclassified to “Finance” revenue to conform to the presentation of the Company’s 
revenue.

 
(h) “Noninterest income” of $1.2 million and $1.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and for the year ended 

December 31, 2020, respectively, which primarily relate to licensing fees, were reclassified to “Other” revenue to conform to the 
presentation of the Company’s revenue.

 
(i) “Interest expense” of $8.9 million and $14.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and for the year ended 

December 31, 2020, respectively, which primarily relate to interest on securitization debt of consolidated VIEs, were reclassified to 
“Finance” cost of sales to conform to the presentation of the Company’s cost of sales.
 

(j) “Interest expense” of $2.7 million and $6.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and for the year ended December 
31, 2020, respectively, which primarily relate to interest on debt facilities, remained in “Interest expense” to conform to the 
presentation of the Company’s interest expense.

 
(k) “Provision for finance receivable losses” of $4.2 million and $7.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and for the 

year ended December 31, 2020, respectively, which primarily relate to collection expenses for servicing and recovery activities, 
were reclassified to "Finance” cost of sales to conform to the presentation of the Company’s cost of sales.

 
(l) “Noninterest expense” of $40.9 million and $48.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and for the year ended 

December 31, 2020, respectively, were reclassified to “Selling, general and administrative expenses” to confirm with the Company’s 
presentation. 

 
(m) “Noninterest expenses” of $1.2 million and $1.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and for the year ended 

December 31, 2020, respectively, were reclassified to “Depreciation and amortization” to conform with the Company’s presentation 
of depreciation and amortization expense. 

 
The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial information may not reflect all reclassifications necessary to conform 

UPFC’s financial statement presentation and accounting policies to that of the Company due to limitations on the availability of information as 
of the date of this Current Report 
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on Form 8-K on which these financial statements are filed as an exhibit. Additional reclassification adjustments may be identified as more 
information becomes available.

 
4. Transaction Accounting Adjustments
 

Accounting policy alignment:
 

As of September 30, 2021, UPFC’s net finance receivables were $499.1 million and included $314.4 million of finance receivables 
held in consolidated variable interest entities (“VIEs”) related to securitization transactions accounted for as secured borrowings. Historically, 
UPFC’s finance receivables were classified as held-for-investment and reported at cost, net of unearned acquisition discounts and allowance 
for finance receivables losses, as well as deferred acquisition costs. Unearned acquisition discounts as well as deferred acquisition costs 
were recognized over the contractual life of the finance receivables using the interest method.

 
As of the Acquisition, the Company designated UPFC’s finance receivables, which are not currently securitized and eligible to be 

sold, as held-for-sale and account for them at the lower of cost or fair value. Under the held-for-sale model, deferred acquisition costs are 
capitalized and deferred until the sale of those finance receivables. 

 
For finance receivables that do not meet the held-for-sale criteria, which primarily consists of the finance receivables held in 

consolidated VIEs related to historical securitization transactions, the Company elected the fair value option under ASC 825, Financial 
instruments (“ASC 825”). Under the fair value option, deferred acquisition costs are expensed in the period incurred.  Changes in the fair 
value of the finance receivables are recorded in the consolidated income statement in the period of the fair value change. 

 
Additionally, the Company elected the fair value option under ASC 825 for the securitized debt held in consolidated VIEs related to 

historical securitization transactions. To eliminate potential measurement differences between the finance receivables and securitized debt of 
consolidated VIEs, the Company decided to elect the measurement alternative, available for the primary beneficiary of a collateralized 
financing entity ("CFE") under ASC 810, Consolidation. 
 

The changes in fair value of the finance receivables and securitized debt of the Company's CFEs will be presented net in the 
Company’s consolidated income statement. For the purposes of these unaudited pro forma condensed combined income statements, the 
Company assumed no changes in fair value of finance receivables and securitized debt. The Company performed a sensitivity analysis and 
determined that for every 5% increase in the fair value of the finance receivables, which is an approximate increase of $14.8 million in the fair 
value of the finance receivables, there would be offsetting increase in the fair value of securitized debt of $13.8 million, resulting in a net 
expense of $1.0 million. 

 
The following pro forma adjustments were made in the “Transaction Accounting Adjustments” column of the unaudited pro forma 

condensed combined financial information:
 
1. Adjustment to reflect $315.7 million in cash consideration paid upon the closing of the Acquisition. 

 
2. Adjustment to reflect the preliminary estimate of fair value of finance receivables acquired.

 
3. Adjustment to reflect the preliminary fair values of UPFC’s identifiable intangible assets. The primary assets include purchased 

technology, customer relationships, and trade name. The fair value adjustment for each asset is based on preliminary assumptions. 
These assumptions are subject to further analysis and may change, which would result in a change to the adjustments included in 
the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information. 

 
4. Adjustment to reflect recognition of goodwill of $78.6 million resulting from the Acquisition. 

 
9



 
5. Adjustment to reflect the accrual for acquisition-related expenses of $8.6 million that were recognized subsequent to the pro forma 

periods presented in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information, which primarily include financial advisory 
fees specifically related to the Acquisition. The acquisition-related expenses have been reflected as a transaction accounting 
adjustment reducing retained earnings in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet of the Company as of 
September 30, 2021 and increasing “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in the unaudited pro forma condensed 
combined statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2020. Acquisition-related expenses of $3.8 million are 
included in the historical income statement of the Company and UPFC for the nine months ended September 30, 2021. This is a 
non-recurring item.

 
6. Deferred acquisition costs of $3.6 million and $5.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and for the year ended 

December 31, 2020, respectively, that were amortized into “Interest income” were reversed and reclassified to “Finance” income  to 
conform with the accounting guidance for finance receivables under the fair value option and held-for-sale accounting models. 

 
7. “Provision for finance receivable losses” of $28.4 million and $73.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and for 

the year ended December 31, 2020, respectively, were reversed to conform with the accounting guidance for finance receivables 
under the fair value option and held-for-sale accounting models. As discussed above, for the purpose of the consolidated 
condensed pro forma income statements, the Company assumed no changes in fair value of finance receivables and securitized 
debt.

 
8. Deferred Acquisition costs of $3.2 million and $3.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and for the year ended 

December 31, 2020, respectively, which were previously capitalized by UPFC were added back to “Selling, general and 
administrative expenses” to conform with the accounting guidance for finance receivables under the fair value option accounting 
model.

 
9. Adjustment to reflect the incremental straight-line amortization of identifiable intangible assets acquired of:

 
• Purchased technology – $8.9 million and $11.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and for the year 

ended December 31, 2020, respectively;
 

• Customer relationships – $6.2 million and $8.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and for the year 
ended December 31, 2020, respectively; and 

 
• Trade name - $0.5 million and $0.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and for the year ended 

December 31, 2020, respectively.
 

10. Adjustments to reduce the existing UPFC deferred income tax asset of $15.6 million and record a deferred income tax liability $56.4 
million resulting in a net deferred tax liability of $40.8 million. These adjustments are the result of the pro forma fair value 
adjustments of the acquired assets and assumed liabilities based on the applicable statutory tax rates. The estimated deferred tax 
liability is preliminary and is subject to change based upon the final determination of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed. 

 
11. Adjustments to reflect the income tax effects of the pro forma adjustments at the state statutory rate of 6.11% of the combined 

company for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and for the year ended December 31, 2020. Additionally, the Company 
received a $40.8 million tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2020 related to a release of the Company’s valuation 
allowance. The effective rates may change as the Company performs a complete tax analysis. There is a corresponding $47.3 
million increase to stockholders' equity as a result of these adjustments. This is a non-recurring item.
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12. Adjustment to reflect the elimination of UHC’s historical stockholders’ equity in connection with the Acquisition.
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